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Westar Energy, Inc. Attachment A(1)
Ringfencing Compliance Filing

May 31, 2013

Submission of Information:

A. To ensure proper allocation or assignment of joint or common costs for non-power
goods and services, so a regulated utility bears only its fair share of costs, the public
utility shall submit by May 31* of each calendar year:

1. A Cost Allocation Manual (CAM) on a calendar year basis that:

» explains the methodology used for all costs allocated or assigned for non-power goods
and services provided by: (a) the regulated utility, (b) a holding company, or (c) a
centralized corporate services subsidiary to any associate company that is a
jurisdictional public utility;

* demonstrates that all costs are allocated or assigned justly and reasonably and that the
allocation or assignment of costs is not unduly discriminatory or preferential; and,

« if a fully distributed cost methodology is not used, an explanation supporting use of the
alternative method of allocation.

Westar Compliance Filing Comments:

The Westar Energy, Inc. Cost Allocation Manual was provided in the report provided to the
KCC as a part of the Company’s May 31, 2011 ringfencing compliance filing. The Manual
provided in the 2011 compliance filing included a summary page containing a thorough
explanation of the methodology followed to assure costs are allocated in a just, reasonable, and
not unduly discriminatory manner. The Westar approach to cost allocations has been reviewed
by the Commission Staff numerous times in conjunction with the processing of numerous rate
filings. In 2013, several changes were made to the Cost Allocation Manual to accommodate a
change in accounting systems. A summary of those changes follows.



2013 Revisions to Westar Energy Cost Allocation Manual

Exempt Material and Consumable Supplies overheads have been combined into the cost code of
L18.

Stores Local and MDC overheads have been combined into the cost code of 1.40.
Bulk Fleet allocation was eliminated.

Fleet Usage Overhead is based on fleet class instead of budget area.

Local Construction Overhead has changed to the new cost code of L55.
Corporate Construction Overhead is still the old cost code L50.

Damage Claims allocation process has been added.

New cost code 153 has been added for the Damage Claims A&G process




Westar Energy, Inc. Attachment A(2)
Ringfencing Compliance Filing

May 31, 2013
2. Any centralized corporate services subsidiary, within a holding company that includes
a jurisdictional public utility, required to file FERC Form No. 60, shall file a copy

with the Commission by May 31% of the calendar year following the year subject of
the report.

Westar Compliance Filing Comments:

Neither Westar Energy, Inc. nor any of its subsidiaries is required to file a FERC Form No. 60.




Westar Energy, Inc. Attachment B(3)
Ringfencing Compliance Filing

May 31, 2013

B. Each jurisdictional public utility shall provide annually by May 31 the following
information using diagrams, schedules or narrative discussion as may be appropriate:

3. An organizational chart of personnel that includes a list of all directors, corporate
officers, and other key personnel shared by any jurisdictional public utility and any
non-utility associate company or holding company, if any, along with a description of
each person's duties and responsibilities to each entity;

Westar Compliance Filing Comments:

A responsive list is attached. The role and responsibilities of board of directors and its
committees is addressed in the annual Westar Energy, Inc. proxy statement filed annually with
the Securities and Exchange Commission.




CORPORATE PERSONNEL

Westar Energy, Inc.
(f/l/a Western Resources, Inc., fk/a The Kansas Power and Light Company)

Directors:
Mollie Hale Carter
Charles Q. Chandler, IV, Chairman
R.A. Edwards 11T
Jerry B. Farley
Richard L. Hawley
B. Anthony Isaac
Arthur B. Krause
Sandra A.J. Lawrence
Michael F. Morrissey
Mark A. Ruelle
S. Carl Soderstrom, Jr.

Officers:
President and Chief Executive Officer, Mark A. Ruelle
Responsible for general supervision and management of the company’s overall business.
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, Douglas R. Sterbenz
Responsible for general supervision and management of the company’s generation, construction and
maintenance, facilities, information technology, planning and engineering, power delivery, power
marketing, safety training, support services, and transmission departments.
Executive Vice President, Public Affairs and Consumer Services, James J. Ludwig
Responsible for general supervision and management of the company’s customer care, community
affairs, energy efficiency, and public and governmental affairs departments.
Senior Vice President, Strategy, Greg A. Greenwood
Responsible for general supervision and management of the company’s strategic planning, major
construction, regulatory and environmental departments.
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, Anthony D. Somma
Responsible for general supervision and management of the company’s accounting, finance, risk
management, and supply chain departments.
Vice President, General Counsel, Corporate Secretary, Larry D. Irick
Responsible for supervision and day-to-day management of the company’s legal department.
Vice President, Regulatory Affairs, Jeffrey L. Martin
Responsible for supervision and day-to-day management of the company’s regulatory affairs
department.
Vice President, Controller and Assistant Secretary, Leray P. Wages
Responsible for supervision and day-to-day management of the company’s accounting department.
Vice President, Human Resources, Jerl L. Banning
Responsible for supervision and day-to-day management of the company’s human resources
department.
Vice President, Power Delivery, Bruce A. AKin
Responsible for supervision and day-to-day management of the company’s distribution and power
delivery department.
Vice President, Corporate Compliance and Internal Audit, Jeffrey L. Beasley
Responsible for supervision and day-to-day management of the company’s corporate compliance and
internal audit department
Vice President, Generation, John T. Bridson
Responsible for supervision and day-to-day management of the company’s generation department.
Vice President, Transmission, Kelly B. Harrison
Responsible for supervision and day-to-day management of the company’s transmission department.
Vice President, Customer Care, Peggy S. Ricketts
Responsible for supervision and day-to-day management of the company’s customer care department.




Westar Energy, Inc. (cont’d)
(f/l/a Western Resources, Inc., flk/a The Kansas Power and Light Company)

Assistant Treasurer, Carolyn A. Starkey
Responsible for support of the Vice President and Treasurer and various related management and
treasury functions.

Assistant Controller, Kevin L. Kongs
Responsible for support of the Vice President and Controller and various related accounting
functions.

Assistant Secretary, Peter L. Sumners
Responsible for support of the Vice President and General Counsel and various related legal
functions.

Kansas Gas and Electric Company
(f'k/a KCA Corporation)

Directors:

Mark A. Ruelle, Chair
Douglas R. Sterbenz

Officers:

President, Mark A. Ruelle
Responsible for general supervision and management of the company’s overall business.
Vice President, John T. Bridson
Assists the President with general supervision and management of the company’s overall
business, particularly with regard to generation and certain finance functions.
Vice President, Kelly B. Harrison
Assists the President with general supervision and management of the company’s overall
business, particularly with regard to transmission functions.
Vice President & Treasurer, Anthony D. Somma
Assists the President with general supervision and management of the company’s overall
business, particularly with regard to finance and treasury functions,
Secretary, Larry D. Irick
Responsible for supervision and day-to-day management of legal and certain finance functions;
responsible for duties consistent with those of a corporate secretary.
Assistant Treasurer, Carolyn A. Starkey

Responsible for support of the Vice President and Treasurer and certain finance and treasury functions.

Assistant Secretary, Peter L. Sumners
Responsible for support of the Vice President and General Counsel and various related legal
functions.




Westar Energy, Inec. Attachment B(4)
Ringfencing Compliance Filing
May 31, 2013

B. Each jurisdictional public utility shall provide annually by May 31*' the following
information using diagrams, schedules or narrative discussion as may be appropriate:

4. Summaries of each mortgage, loan document and debt agreement including a
discussion of the type of collateral or security pledged to support the debt. The utility
will also describe any loan or debt agreement taken out to finance an unregulated
affiliate that encumbers utility property or cash-flow for security;

Westar Compliance Filing Comments:

Responsive sumimaries are attached.
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Westar Energy, Inc. Mortgage

From time to time, Westar Energy, Inc. (“WEI") issues first mortgage bonds. First mortgage bonds are
issued under and secured by the Mortgage and Deed of Trust, dated July 1, 1939, between WEI and The
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A, as successor to Harris Trust and Savings Bank, as
trustee, as supplemented and amended by supplemental indentures. The material provisions of the
mortgage are summarized below.

Issuance of Bonds

Bonds, when issued, may rank equally with the bonds of other series then outstanding, and may be issued
having dates, maturities, interest rates, redemption prices and other terms as may be determined by WTT’s
Board of Directors. Additional bonds may be issued under the mortgage in principal amounts not
exceeding the sum of:

(1) 60% (so long as any bonds issued prior to January 1, 1997 remain outstanding, and thereafter
70%) of the net bondable value of property additions not subject to an unfunded prior lien;

(2) the principal amount of bonds retired or to be retired (except out of trust monies); and

(3) the amount of cash deposited with the trustee for such purpose, which may thereafter be
withdrawn upon the same basis that additional bonds are issuable under (1) or (2) above.

Additional bonds may not be issued on the basis of property additions subject to an unfunded prior lien.

In addition to the restrictions discussed above, so long as any bonds issued prior to January 1, 1997
remain outstanding, additional bonds may not be issued unless our unconsolidated net eamnings available
for interest, depreciation and property retirements for a period of any 12 consecutive months during the
period of 15 calendar months immediately preceding the first day of the month in which the application
for authentication and delivery of additional bonds is made shall have been not less than the greater of
two times (two and one-half times after all bonds issued prior to January 1, 1997 are no longer
outstanding) the annual interest charges on, and 10% of the principal amount of, all bonds then
outstanding, all additional bonds then applied for, all outstanding prior lien bonds and all prior lien bonds,
if any, then being applied for.

The net earnings test referred to in the previous paragraph need not be satisfied to issue additional bonds:

+ on the basis of property additions subject to an unfunded prior lien which simultaneously will
become a funded prior lien, if application for the issuance of the additional bonds is made at any
time after a date two years prior to the date of the maturity of the bonds secured by the prior lien;
and

» on the basis of the payment at maturity of bonds heretofore issued by us, or the redemption,
conversion or purchase of bonds, after a date two years prior to the date on which those bonds
mature.

WET has reserved the right to amend the mortgage to eliminate the foregoing requirement.

Release of Property

The mortgage provides that, subject to various limitations, property may be released from the lien thereof
on the basis of cash deposited with the trustee, bonds or purchase money obligations delivered to the

trustee, prior lien bonds delivered to the trustee, or unfunded net property additions eertified to the trustee.
The mortgage also permits the withdrawal of cash against the certification to the trustee of gross property



additions at 100%, or the net bondable value of property additions at 60% (so long as any bonds issued
prior to January 1, 1997 remain outstanding, and thereafter 70%0), or the deposit with the trustee of bonds
we have acquired. The mortgage contains special provisions with respect to the release of all or
substantially all of our gas and electric properties. WEI has reserved the right to amend the mortgage to
change the release and substitution provisions.

Security and Ranking

The bonds when issued are secured, equally and ratably with all of the bonds now outstanding or hereafter
issued under the mortgage, by the lien on substantially all of our fixed property and franchises purported
to be conveyed by the mortgage including after-acquired property of the character intended to be
mortgaged property, subject to the exceptions referred to below, to certain minor leases and easements,
permitted liens, exceptions and reservations in the instruments by which WEI acquired title to its property
and the prior lien of the trustee for compensation, expenses and liability.

Excepted from the lien of the mortgage are:

» cash and accounts recetvable;

+ contracts or operating agreements;

+ securities not pledged under the mortgage;

» electric energy, gas, water, materials and supplies held for consumption in operation or held in
advance of use for fixed capital purposes; and

» merchandise, appliances and supplies held for resale or lease to customers.

There is further expressly excepted any property of any other corporation, all the securities of which may
be owned or later acquired by WEL The lien of the mortgage does not apply to property of KGE so long
as KGE remains WEI’s wholly-owned subsidiary, to the stock of KGE owned by us or to the stock of any
of our other subsidiaries. The mortgage permits WEI’s consolidation or merger with, or the conveyance
of all or substantially all of its property to, any other corporation; provided, among other things, that the
successor corporation assumes the due and punctual payment of the principal and interest on the bonds of
all series then outstanding under the mortgage and assumes the due and punctual performance of all the
covenants and conditions of the mortgage.

Events of Default
An event of default under the mortgage includes:

¢+ default in the payment of the principal of any bond when the same shall become due and payable,
whether at maturity or otherwise;

 default continuing for 30 days in the payment of any installment of interest on any bond or in the
payment or satisfaction of any sinking fund obligation;

+ default in performance or observance of any other covenant, agreement or condition in the
mortgage continuing for a period of 60 days after written notice to us thereof by the trustee or by
the holders of not less than 15% of the aggregate principal amount of all bonds then outstanding;

» failure to discharge or stay within 30 days a final judgment against us for the payment of money
in excess of $100,000;

+ default in the payment of the principal of any prior lien bond when the same shall become due
and payable, whether at maturity or otherwise, or default in the payment of any installment on
interest on any prior lien bond beyond the applicable grace period specitied in such prior lien
bond; and

+ certain events in bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization.




The trustee is required, within 90 days after the occurrence thereof, to give to the holders of the bonds
notice of all defaults known to the trustee unless such defaults shall have been cured before the giving of
such notice; provided, however, that except in the case of default in the payment of the principal of, and
premium, if any, or interest (including additional interest) on any of the bonds, or in the payment or
satisfaction of any sinking or purchase fund installment, the trustee shall be protected in withholding
notice if and so long as the trustee in good faith determines that the withholding of notice is in the
interests of the holders of the bonds. The trustee is under no obligation to defend or initiate any action
under the mortgage which would result in the incurring of non-reimbursable expenses unless one or more
of the holders of any of the outstanding bonds furnishes the trustee with indemnity satisfactory to it
against such expenses. In the event of a default, the trustee is not required to act unless requested to act by
holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the bonds then outstanding. In addition, a
majority of the holders of the bonds have the right to direct all proceedings under the mortgage provided
the trustee is indemnified to its satisfaction.

If an event of default shall have happened and be continuing, the trustee may, in its discretion and, upon
written request of not less than 25% of the bondholders, shall by notice in writing delivered to WEI
declare the principal amount of all bonds, if not already due and payable, to be immediately due and
payable; and upon any such declaration of all bonds shall become and be immediately due and payable.
This provision, however, is subject to the condition that, if at any time after the principal of the bonds
shall have been so declared due and payable and prior to the date of maturity thereof as stated in the
bonds and before any sale of the trust estate shall have been made, all arrears of interest upon all such
bonds (with interest at the rate specified in such bonds on any overdue installment of interest and the
expenses of the trustee, its agents and attorneys) shall either be paid by WEI or be collected and paid out
of the trust estate, and an defaults as aforesaid (other than the payment of principal which has been so
declared due and payable) shall have been made good or secured to the satisfaction of the trustee or
provision deemed by the trustee to be adequate shall be made therefor, then, and in every such case, a
majority of the bondholders may waive such default and its consequences and rescind such declaration;
but no such waiver shall extend to or affect any subsequent default or impair or exhaust any right or
power consequent thereon.




Kansas Gas and Electric Company Mortgage

From time to time, Kansas Gas and Electric Company (“KGE™) issues bonds under its Mortgage and
Deed of Trust, dated as of April 1, 1940, to The Bank of New York Melton Trust Company, N.A.
(successor to BNY Midwest Trust Company) and Richard Tarnas (successor to Judith L. Bartolini, W.A.
Spooner, Henry A. Theis, Oliver Brooks, Wesley L. Baker, Edwin F. McMichael and R. Amundsen), as
trustees, as supplemented by indentures supplemental thereto. The material provisions of the mortgage
are summarized below.

Issuance of Bonds

The maximum principal amount of bonds which may be issued under the mortgage is not limited, but
until changed by a future supplemental indenture the amount of advances (over and above the original
issue of $16,000,000 of Bonds) which may be secured by the lien created by the mortgage shall not
exceed $3.5 billion.

Bonds of any series may be issued from time to time on the basis of

(1) 70% of property additions after adjustments to offset retirements, or net property additions;
(2) retirement of bonds or prior lien bonds; and
(3) deposit of cash.

Further, with certain exceptions in the case of (2) above, the issuance of bonds is subject to a “net
earnings” test whereby net earnings for 12 consecutive months out of the preceding 15 months before
income taxes and before provision for retirement and depreciation of property is required to be (1) at least
two and one-half times the annual interest requirements on all bonds at the time outstanding, including the
additional issue, and on all indebtedness of prior rank or (ii) at least 10% of the principal amount of such
bonds and prior indebtedness.

Cash deposited as a basis for the issuance of bonds may be withdrawn from time to time in an amount
equal to the principal amount of bonds which KGE would otherwise be entitled to issue (without,
however, applying any earnings test) upon waiver of the right to issue the same or may be used for the
purchase, payment or redemption of bonds.

Property additions generally include electric, gas, steam or hot water property, acquired after December
31, 1939, but may not include securities, vehicles or automobiles, or property used principally for the
production, gathering or transmission of natural gas. KGE has reserved the right to amend the mortgage,
without any consent or other action by the holders of bonds, to include nuclear fuel (and similar or
analogous devices or substances) as property additions. The mortgage contains certain restrictions upon
the issuance of bonds against property subject to liens and upon the increase of the amount of such liens.

Release of Property

Property may be released against (1) deposit of cash or, to a limited amount, purchase money mortgages,
(2) property additions, and (3) waiver of the right to issue bonds, without applying any earnings test. Cash
so deposited may be withdrawn upon the bases stated in (2) and (3) above. The mortgage contains special
provisions with respect to prior lien bonds pledged, and disposition of moneys received on pledged prior
lien bonds.




Security and Ranking

Bonds issued under the mortgage, which constitutes a first mortgage lien on all of KGE’s present
properties, subject to (a) leases of minor portions of KGE property to others for uses which do not
interfere with our business, (b) leases of certain of our property not used in KGE’s electric utility
business, (c) excepted encumbrances and (d) minor defects and irregularities in titles to properties. There
are excepted from the lien all cash and securities, certain equipment, materials or supplies, vehicles and
automobiles and receivables, contracts, leases and operating agreements. Bonds rank equally with all
other bonds outstanding under the mortgage.

The mortgage contains provisions for subjecting after-acquired property (subject to pre-existing liens) to
the lien thereof, subject to limitations in the case of consolidation, merger or sale of substantially all of
KGE’s assets.

The mortgage provides that the trustees shall have a lien upon the mortgaged property, prior to the
bonds, for the payment of their reasonable compensation and expenses and for indemnity against certain
lLabilities.

Events of Default

An event of default occurs upon:
e default in payment of principal;
+  default for 60 days in payment of interest;
* default in payment of interest or principal of prior lien bonds continued beyond grace period;
* default for 60 days in payment of installments of funds required for the purchase or redemption
of bonds;
* certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization; and
*  default for 90 days after notice in other covenants.

The trustees may withhold notice of default (except in payment of principal, interest or funds required
for the purchase or redemption of bonds) if they determine it to be in the interests of the bondholders.

In case of default, the holders of 25% of the bonds may declare the principal and interest due and payable,
but the holders of a majority of the bonds may annul such declaration and destroy its effect if such default
has been cured. No holder of bonds may enforce the lien of the mortgage unless such holder shall have
given the trustees written notice of a default or unless the holders of 25% of the bonds have requested the
trustees in writing to act and have offered the trustees reasonable opportunity to act.

The trustees are not required to risk their funds or incur personal liability if there is reasonable ground for
believing that repayment is not reasonably assured. Holders of a majority of the bonds may direct the
time, method and place of conducting any proceedings for any remedy available to the trustees, or
exercising any trust or power conferred upon the trustees.




Westar Energy, Inc. Credit Facility (Februarv 2011)

On February 18, 2011, WEI entered into a new revolving credit facility. The new facility matures on
February 18, 2015. The facility allows us to borrow up to an aggregate of $270.0 million, including letters
of credit up to a maximum aggregate amount of $100.0 million. So long as there is no default under the
facility, WEI may elect to increase the aggregate amount of borrowings under the facility to $400.0
million, subject to lender participation. All borrowings under the facility are secured by first mortgage
bonds of Kansas Gas and Electric Company. WEI may elect to release this security at any time that our
senior unsecured debt is rated investment grade by at least two of S&P, Moody’s and Fitch. The
February 18, 2011 Credit Agreement is attached as Exhibit 10.1 to WEI’s Current Report on Form §-K
filed on February 18,2011, On February 12,2013, WEI elected to extend the facility for one year and all
lenders participated. So long as there 1s no default under the facility, WEI may elect to extend the facility
for up to one additional year, subject to lender participation. The February 12, 2013 First Extension
Agreement is attached as Exhibit 10.1 to WEI’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 15, 2013.

Westar Energv, Inc. Credit Facility (September 2011)

On September 29, 2011, WEI amended and restated its revolving credit facility dated February 22, 2008.
The amended and restated revolving credit facility matures on September 29, 2016. So long as there is no
default or event of default under the revolving credit facility, WEI may elect to extend the credit facility
for up to an additional two vears, subject to lender participation. The amended and restated facility allows
us to borrow up to an aggregate of $730.0 million, including letters of credit. So long as there is no
default under the facility, WEI may elect to increase the aggregate amount of borrowings under the
facility to $1.0 billion, subject to lender participation. All borrowings under the revolving credit facility
are secured by first mortgage bonds of Kansas Gas and Electric Company. WEI may elect to release this
security at any time that our senior unsecured debt is rated investment grade by at least two of S&P,
Moody’s and Fitch. The September 29, 2011 Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement is
attached as Exhibit 10.1 to WEI’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 29, 2011.

Westar Encrgy, Inc. Commercial Paper Program (December 2011)

On December 9, 2011, WEI entered into a commercial paper program permitting us to borrow up to an
aggregate of $1.0 billion at any one time. This program is supported by the revolving credit facilities
described above. Maturities of commercial paper issuances may not exceed one vear. The program is
described in WEI’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 9, 2011.
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B. Each jurisdictional public utility shall provide annually by May 31* the following
information using diagrams, schedules or narrative discussion as may be appropriate:

W

To the extent financial separations are maintained for either legal or financial
accounting purposes and at a level in which financial statements are reasonably
capable of being produced by the utility's accounting system, each jurisdictional
public utility shall file income statements, balance sheets and cash flow statements for

(1) consolidated utility operations; (2) consolidated non-regulated operations; and (3)
consolidated corporate financials.

Westar Compliance Filing Comments:

Westar Energy, Inc. consolidated corporate financial statements (with notes) are attached. The
FERC Form 1 for each Westar Energy, Inc. (standalone) and Kansas Gas and Electric Company
have been previously provided to the Commission on or about April 15, 2013 and are
incorporated herein by reference. Pursuant to the exemption stated on Page 4 of the Report
regarding entities comprising less than 10% of the consolidated assets or 10% of the consolidated

revenues of the parent jurisdictional public utility, financial statements regarding consolidated
non-regulated operations are not attached.



WESTAR ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in Thousands, Except Par Values)

As of December 31,
2012 2011
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and €ash eQUIVALEIIS ..........ococoiiiiiiiiiii ettt bbbttt es s es et areseae e $ 5829 § 3,539
RESHHCTEA CASIL ...t ettt ettt s s ettt aens 573 —
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $4,916 and $7,384, respectively........ 224,439 226,428
Fuel inventory and supplies ... 249,016 229,118
Taxes receivable.... — 5,334
Deferred tax assets — 394
Prepaid expenses 15,847 13,078
Regulatory assets ......... 114,895 123,818
OIBET .ottt ettt ettt ee e s seken Rt £ St e eses R R et et s bbbt et eaess st r e e e e esensseseseenan e s 32,476 31,876
Total Current ASSets..........ccooveveeeeceeeeeeeeencenns 643,075 633,585
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET.. 7,013,765 6,411,922
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT OF VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES, NET........oeovevennee 321,975 333,494
OTHER ASSETS:
REGUIBTOLY BSSOLS ..ttt ettt ettt et e et st b e s et e rm e se e esebessese e s es s abenseseseesebe seesemeeeseneenes 887,777 922,272
Nuclear decomunissioning trust............... 150,754 130,270
OLHET —oveoorveeseeereean, 247,885 251,308
Total Other Assets.. 1,286,416 1,303,850
O T AL A S S E T S ettt er oottt ettt e e et e e s aa s eas e st aamrer et etensaanaaen 9.265.231 § 8.682.851
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Current maturities of long-term debt of variable interest entities 25942 § 28,114
Short-term debt 339,200 286,300
Accounts payable 180,825 187,428
Accrued dividends 41,743 40,463
Accrued taxes 58,624 52,451
Accrued interest 77,891 77,437
Regulatory liabilities.... 37,557 40,857
84,359 114,237
Total Current LIADIIHES. .....cco.viviiviiieccicec ettt ettt enetenn et seernaeas 846,141 827,287
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Long-term debt, net 2,819,271 2,491,109
Long-term debt of vanable interest entities, net .. 222,743 249,283
Deferred income taxes 1,197,837 1,110,463
Unamortized investment tax credits. 191,512 164,175
Regulatory labilities 285,618 230,530
Accrued employee BEnefits. . ...t e e 564,870 592,617
Asset retirement obligations 152,648 142,508
74,336 74,138
Total Long-Temn Liabilities.......c.oiiiiiiiiiiirieeeeee ettt e sn s st et caennne 5,508,835 5,054,823
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (See Notes 13 and 15)
EQUITY:
Westar Energy, Inc. Shareholders® Equity:
Cumulative preferred stack, par value $100 per share; authorized 600,000 shares; issued and
outstanding zero shares and 214,363 shares, respective to each date................cocooevrereocivecreennnn, — 21,436
Common stock, par value $5 per share; authorized 275,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding
126,503,748 shares and 125,698,396 shares, respective to each date .............cccocoecr e, 632,519 628,492
Paid-in CAPHAL ...t 1,656,972 1,639,503
Retained eamnings 606,649 501,216
Total Westar Energy, Inc. Shareholders™ Equity. 2,896,140 2,790,647
Noncontrolling Interests.. 14,115 10,094
Total Equity...... 2,910,255 2,800,741
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY. 9.265.231 § 8,682,851

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WESTAR ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

REVENUES ..ot ceie e ettt ettt st et sesessns et s snnn e $ 2261470 $ 2,170,991 2,056,171
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Fuel and purchased POWeT ..o e 589,990 630,793 583,361

Operating and maintenance 612,871 557,752 520,409

Depreciation and amortization .... 270,464 285,322 271,937

Selling, general and administrative 226,012 184,695 207,607

Total Operating Expenses. 1,699,337 1,638,562 1,583,314

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS ..... 562,133 512,429 472,857
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):

Investment eamings........... 7,411 9,301 7,026

Other income 35,378 8,652 5,369

OHHET EXPOIISE ...oiviii ittt sttt ettt een s (19,987) (18,398) (16,655)

Total Other Income (Expense)............... 22,802 (445) (4,260)

Interest expense 176,337 172,460 174,941
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES. 408,598 339,524 293,656
Inconie tax expense ... 126,136 103,344 85,032
NET INCOME 282,462 236,180 208,624
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 7,316 5.941 4,728
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO WESTAR ENERGY... 275,146 230,239 203,896
Preferred dividends...........c.ocoooiiiiiiie e 1,616 970 970
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON STOCK ...c.cooooiviiiiireeeene $ 273,530 § 229,269 202,926
BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER AVERAGE COMMON SHARE

OUTSTANDING ATTRIBUTABLE TO WESTAR ENERGY (see Note 2):

Basic eamings per common SNATe.............c.oooooioiiiiioieeiee e, $ 215§ 1.95 1.81

Diluted eamings per commOn SHArE ... ...t eeeeree e 3 215 § 1.93 1.80
AVERAGE EQUIVALENT COMMON SHARES QUTSTANDING..........coco......... 126,711,869 116,890,552 111,629,292
DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE ..o $ 132§ 1.28 1.24

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WESTAR ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
INEEITICOMIE ... ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et et st es e maseans s s et sees $ 282,462 § 236,180 § 208,624
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amMOTHZATON .......c.cvvivioiect it ar ettt emase et ese s sssasena 270,464 285,322 271,937
Amortization of nuclear fuel...........ccooiiiiiii e 24,369 21,151 25,089
Amortization of deferred regulatory gain from sale leaseback.... (5,495) (5,495) (5,495)
Amortization of corporate-owned life insurance 28,792 25,650 20,650
Non-cash compensation 7,255 8,422 11,373
Net changes in energy marketing assets and liabilities (372) 926 (1,284)
Net deferred income taxes and credits 126,248 111,723 120,169
Stock-based compensation excess tax benefits............... (1,698) (1,180) (641)
Allowance for equity funds used during construction ... (11,706) (5,550) (3,104)
Gain on sale of non-utility IMVESHMENT.......c.cooiiiiiercrrreere e — {7,246) —
Gain on settlement of contractual obligations with fortner officers ..o — (22,039) —
Changes 1n working capital iterns:
AcCoUS 1eCIVADIE ..ot 2,408 (1,638) (11,434)
Fuel inventory and supplies (19,227) (21,485) (12,266)
Prepaid expenses and other (3,630) {50,138) 8,475
Accounts payable (19,161) 3,008 30,330
Accrued taxes 11,937 18,633 27,565
Other current liabilities ... {105,169) (107,012) (80,660)
Changes in other assets 13,015 (10,167) (42,544)
Changes in other liabilities.... (1,386) (16,369) 40,918
Cash Flows from Operating ACHVITES. .....o.ovovoverireriiiieeeenet et 599,106 462,696 607,702
CASH FLOWS FROAM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Additions to property, plant and eqUIPIMENT...........ocoircouiiiici et a e (810,209) (697,451) (540,076)
Purchase of securities within trusts.. (20,473) (49,737) (192,350)
Sale of securities within trusts .. 21,604 47,534 191,603
Proceeds from trust ..o 2,022 e —
Investment in corporate-owned life insurance (18,404) (19,214) (19,162)
Proceeds from investinent in corporate-owned life insurance 33,542 1,295 2,204
Proceeds from federal grant ..ot e 4,775 8,561 3,180
Investment in affiliated company (8,669) (1,943) (280)
Proceeds from sale of non-utility investments — 9,246 e
Other investing activities (1,525) 193 (1,164)
Cash Flows used in Investing Activities (797,337) (701,516) (556,045)
CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Short-term debt, net 52,900 54,081 (16,060)
Proceeds from long-term debt... 541,374 — —
Retirements of Tong-term debt.........co.iiiii s {220,563) @3Mm) (1,695)
Retirements of long-term debt of variable interest entities........................... (28,114) (30,159) (28,610)
Repayment of capital leases (2,679) (2,233) (2,981)
Borrowings against cash surrender value of corporate-owned life insurance ............ccccoooeeeveen 67,791 67,562 74,134
Repayment of borrowings against cash surrender value of corporate-owned life insurance ....... (34,838) (3,421) (3,430)
Stock-based compensation excess tax benefis. ..o 1,698 1,180 641
Preferred stock redemption.... 22,567) — —
Issuance of common stock 6,996 294,942 54,651
Distributions to shareholders of noncontrolling interests (3,295) (1,917) (2,093)
Cash dividends paid (158,182) (138,233) (129,146)
Cash Flows from (used in) Financing Activities.... 200,521 241,431 (54,589)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS......oooiiviiiieeeeeeen 2,290 2,611 (2,932)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
Beginning 0f PEAIOG .....c.oiiiiiiiire ettt 3,539 928 3,860
ENd Of PEIIOQ. ..ottt $ 5829 § 3539 § 928

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WESTAR ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Dollars in Thousands)

Westar Energy, Inc. Shareholders

Cumulative  Cumulative Non-
preferred preferred Common Common Paid-in Retained controlling Total
stock shares stock stock shares stock capital earnings interests equity

Balance as of December 31, 2009...... 214,363 § 21,436 109,072,000 $ 545360 $ 1,339,790 $ 360,199 $ — $ 2,266,785
NetINCOME ..o — — — — — 203,896 4,728 208,624
Issuance of stock...........cocovvieiicn — — 3,056,068 15,280 50,759 — — 66,039
Preferred dividends ... — e — — —— (970) — (970)
Dividends on common stock

($1.24 pershare) ... — — — — — (139,478) — (139,478)
Transfer to temporary equity................ — — - — 22) e — 22)
Amortization of restricted stock........... — — S — 10,710 —_ — 10,710
Stock compensation and tax benefit ... — - — — (2,657) —_ —_ (2,657)
Consolidation of noncontrolling

ANETESTS .o — — o — — — 3,435 3,435
Distributions to shareholders of

noncontrolling interests................. — — — — — — (2,093) (2,093)
Balance as of December 31,2010 214,363 21,436 112,128,068 560,640 1,398,580 423,647 6,070 2,410,373
Net ICome oo — - — e — 230,239 5,941 236,180
Issuance of stock..............ccovvviinn — — 13,570,328 67,852 243,081 — — 310,933
Preferred dividends..................... — — — — — (970) — (970)
Dividends on common stock

($1.28 per share).................... — — — — — (151,700) — (151,700)
Transfer from temporary equity ........... e — — — 3,465 - — 3,465
Amortization of restricted stock........... — — — — 7,698 — — 7,698
Stock compensation and tax benefit ... — — — — (13,321) - — (13,321)
Distributions to shareholders of

noncontrolling interests................. -— — — —_ — — (1,917 (1,917)
Balance as of December 31, 2011...... 214,363 21,436 125,698,396 628,492 1,639,503 501,216 10,094 2,800,741
Netincome ....ooeveviiereeee e — — — — — 275,146 7316 282,462
Issuance of stock.........ocoovovvvvoeeiienanns — — 805,352 4,027 19,143 —— — 23,170
Stock redemption .................cccoeernnne (214,363) (21,436) e — - — — (21,436)
Preferred dividends ................cccoeeen. — — — — — (1,616) — (1,616)
Dividends on common stock

($1.32 per share)... — — — — — (168,097) — (168,097)
Amortization of restricted stock.......... — — — — 6,430 — — 6,430
Stock compensation and tax benefit ... — — — — (8,104) — — (8,104)
Distributions to shareholders of

noncontrolling interests .. ............ — — — — — — (3,295) (3,29%)
Balance as of December 31,2012...... — S — 126,503,748 § 632,519 §$ 1,656,972 $ 606,649 $ 14115 § 2,910,255

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




WESTAR ENERGY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

We are the largest electric utility in Kansas. Unless the context otherwise indicates, all references in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K to "the company,” "we,” "us,” "our" and similar words are to Westar Energy, Inc. and its consolidated
subsidiaries. The term "Westar Energy" refers to Westar Energy, Inc., a Kansas corporation incorporated in 1924, alone and not

together with its consolidated subsidiaries.

We provide electric generation, transmission and distribution services to approximately 690,000 customers in Kansas.
Westar Energy provides these services in central and northeastern Kansas, including the cities of Topeka, Lawrence, Manhattan,
Salina and Hutchinson. Kansas Gas and Electric Company (KGE), Westar Energy's wholly-owned subsidiary, provides these
services in south-central and southeastern Kansas, including the city of Wichita. Both Westar Energy and KGE conduct
business using the name Westar Energy. Our corporate headquarters is located at 818 South Kansas Avenue, Topeka, Kansas
66612.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP for the United States of America. Our
consolidated financial statements include all operating divisions, majority owned subsidiaries and variable interest entities
(VIEs) of which we maintain a controlling interest or are the primary beneficiary reported as a single reportable segment.
Undivided interests in jointly-owned generation facilities are included on a proportionate basis. Intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Management's Estimates

When we prepare our consolidated financial statements, we are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of our consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis, including those related to depreciation, unbilled revenue, valuation of
investments, forecasted fuel costs included in our retail energy cost adjustment (RECA) billed to customers, income taxes,
pension and post-retirement benefits, our asset retirement obligations (AROs) including the decommissioning of Wolf Creek
Generating Station {Wolf Creek), environmental issues, VIEs, contingencies and litigation. Actual results may differ from
those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Regulatory Accounting

We apply accounting standards that recognize the economic effects of rate regulation. Accordingly, we have recorded
regulatory assets and liabilities when required by a regulatory order or based on regulatory precedent. See Note 3, "Rate
Matters and Regulation," for additional information regarding our regulatory assets and liabilities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider investments that are highly liquid and have maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents.

Restricted Cash
Pursuant to Westar Energy’s Articles of Incorporation, Westar Energy deposited cash in a separate bank account to

effect the redemption of all of Westar Energy’s preferred stock in 2012. See Note 16, "Common and Preferred Stock,” for
additional information regarding the preferred stock redemption.
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Fuel Inventory and Supplies

We state fuel inventory and supplies at average cost.
separately.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Following are the balances for fuel inventory and supplies stated

As of December 31,
2012 2011
(In Thousands)
. $ 94,664 $ 86,408
. 154,352 142,710
. $ 249,016 § 229,118

We record the value of property, plant and equipment, including that of VIEs, at cost. For plant, cost includes
contracted services, direct labor and materials, indirect charges for engineering and supervision, and an allowance for funds
used during construction (AFUDC). AFUDC represents the allowed cost of capital used to finance utility construction activity.
We compute AFUDC by applying a composite rate to qualified construction work in progress. We credit other income (for
equity funds) and interest expense (for borrowed funds) for the amount of AFUDC capitalized as construction cost on the

accompanying consolidated statements of income as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars In Thousands)
Borrowed funds ................. $ 10,399 $ 5,589 % 4,295
Equity funds.......c.ccoeean, 11,706 5,550 3,104
Total.cooiiiiiiiiiiine, S 22,105 § 11,139 § 7,399
Average AFUDC Rates..... 5.0% 3.6% 2.6%

We charge maintenance costs and replacements of minor items of property to expense as incurred, except for
maintenance costs incurred for our planned refueling and maintenance outages at Wolf Creek. As authorized by regulators, we
defer and amortize to expense ratably over the period between planned outages incremental maintenance costs incurred for
such outages. When a unit of depreciable property is retired, we charge to accumulated depreciation the original cost less

salvage value.

Depreciation

We depreciate utility plant using a straight-line method. The depreciation rates are based on an average annual

composite basis using group rates that approximated 2.6%

in 2012, 3.0% in 2011 and 2.9% in 2010.

Depreciable lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows.

Fossil fuel generating facilities........... 6
Nuclear fuel generating facility ..........
Wind generating facilities...................
Transmission facilities...

78
71
20
153 10 75
70
30
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Nuclear Fuel

We record as property, plant and equipment our share of the cost of nuclear fuel used in the process of refinement,
conversion, enrichment and fabrication. We reflect this at original cost and amortize such amounts to fuel expense based on the
quantity of heat consumed during the generation of electricity as measured in millions of British thermal units (MMBtu). The
accumulated amortization of nuclear tuel in the reactor was $69.2 million as of December 31, 2012, and $44.8 million as of
December 31, 2011. The cost of nuclear fuel charged to fuel and purchased power expense was $28.3 million in 2012,
$24.6 million in 2011 and $29.2 million in 2010.

Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance

We recorded on our consolidated balance sheets in other long-term assets the following amounts related to corporate-
owned life insurance policies.

As of December 31,
2012 2011
(In Thousands)
Cash surrender value of policies .........cceeee. $ 1,370,788 $ 1,345,443
Borrowings against policies .........cococooeernece. (1,241,343) (1,208,389)
Corporate-owned life insurance, net....... $ 129,445 $ 137,054

We record as income increases in cash surrender value and death benefits. We offset against policy income the interest
expense that we incur on policy loans. Income from death benefits is highly variable from period to period.

Revenue Recognition
Electricity Sales

We record revenue at the time we deliver electricity to customers. We determine the amounts delivered to individual
customers through systematic monthly readings of customer meters. At the end of each month, we estimate how much
electricity we have delivered since the prior meter reading and record the corresponding unbilled revenue.

Our unbilled revenue estimate is affected by factors including fluctuations in energy demand, weather, line losses and
changes in the composition of customer classes. We recorded estimated unbilled revenue of $62.5 million as of December 31,
2012, and $54.0 million as of December 31, 2011.

Energy Marketing Contracts

We account for energy marketing derivative contracts under the fair value method of accounting. Under this method,
we recognize changes in the portfolio value as gains or losses in the period of change. With the exception of certain fuel supply
and electricity contracts, which we record as regulatory assets or regulatory liabilities, we include the net change in fair value in
revenues on our consolidated statements of income. We record the unrealized gains and losses in other current assets and other
current liabilities or in other assets and other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets as appropriate. We use
quoted market prices to value our energy marketing derivative contracts when such data are available. When market prices are
not readily available or determinable, we use alternative approaches, such as model pricing. The prices we use to value these
transactions reflect our best estimate of the fair value of these contracts. Results actually achieved from these activities could
vary materially from intended results and could affect our consolidated financial results.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We determine our allowance for doubtful accounts based on the age of our receivables. We charge receivables off

when they are deemed uncollectible, which is based on a number of factors including specific facts surrounding an account and
management's judgment.
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Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, we recognize deferred tax
assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts and the tax basis of existing assets and liabilities. We recognize the future tax benefits to the extent that
realization of such benefits is more likely than not. We amortize deferred investment tax credits over the lives of the related
properties as required by tax laws and regulatory practices. We recognize production tax credits in the year that electricity is
generated to the extent that realization of such benefits is more likely than not.

We record deferred tax assets to carry forward into future periods capital losses, operating losses and tax credits.
However, when we believe based on available evidence that we do not, or will not, have sufficient future capital gains or
taxable income in the appropriate taxing jurisdiction to realize the entire benetit during the applicable carryforward period, we
record a valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset.

The application of income tax law is complex. Laws and regulations in this area are voluminous and often ambiguous.
Accordingly, we must make judgments regarding income tax exposure. Interpretations of and guidance surrounding income tax
laws and regulations change over time. As a result, changes in our judgments can materially affect amounts we recognize in
our consolidated financial statements. See Note 10, "Taxes,” for additional detail on our accounting for income taxes.

Sales Tax

We account for the collection and remittance of sales tax on a net basis. As a result, we do not reflect sales tax in our
consolidated statements of income.

Earnings Per Share

We have participating securities in the form of unvested restricted share units (RSUs) with nonforfeitable rights to
dividend equivalents that receive dividends on an equal basis with dividends declared on common shares. As a result, we apply
the two-class method of computing basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS).

Under the two-class method, we reduce net income attributable to common stock by the amount of dividends declared
in the current period. We allocate the remaining earnings to common stock and RSUs to the extent that each security may share
in earnings as if all of the earnings for the period had been distributed. We determine the total earnings allocated to each
security by adding together the amount allocated for dividends and the amount allocated for a participation feature. To
compute basic EPS, we divide the earnings allocated to commion stock by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding. Diluted EPS includes the effect of potential issuances of common shares resulting from our forward sale
agreements, RSUs with forfeitable rights to dividend equivalents and stock options. We compute the dilutive effect of potential
issuances of common shares using the treasury stock method.
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The following table reconciles our basic and diluted EPS from net income.

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars In Thousands, Except Per Share
Amounts)
NELIMCOME. ...t $ 282,462 § 236,180 § 208,624
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests...........c.o........... 7,316 5,941 4,728
Net income attributable to Westar Energy, Inc..............ocoovoeiiiiiiccn 275,146 230,239 203,896
Less: Preferred dividends ..., 1,616 970 970
Net income allocated t0 RSUS ..o 778 772 1,259
Net income allocated to commMON SLOCK.........cocciciiiiiiii et $ 272,752 $ 228,497 § 201,667
Weighted average equivalent common shares outstanding — basic............. 126,711,869 116,890,552 111,629,292
Effect of dilutive securities:

RSUS ittt eereenneoe 97,757 188,025 140,077
Forward sale agreements ......oooieiiiiiieoeeeeeeeeeee e 89,160 1,211,645 245,496
Employee StOCK OPHONS....c.ooe i — — 59
Weighted average equivalent common shares outstanding — diluted (a)..... 126,898,786 118,290,222 112,014,924
Earnings per common share, Dasic .......cococoeeeerivioirieeeeeeeeeeeeeei. S 215§ 195 $ 1.81
Earnings per common share, diluted .............cccoooeeiiniin i, $ 215§ 193 § 1.80

(a) For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we had no antidilutive shares.

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In Thousands)
CASH PAID FOR (RECEIVED FROM):
Interest on financing activities, net of amount capitalized ..............c.oovviveennnn... $ 143564 $ 145,570 $ 145,463
Interest on financing activities Of VIES ...ooooiiivioiiceeccceeeee e 16,214 18,167 20,191
Income taxes, Net Of TEfUNAS ...o..ovviiiiiiieieeec e (4,378) (17,519) (34,980)
NON-CASH INVESTING TRANSACTIONS:
Property, plant and equipment additions..........ccoovviivivir oo ceieeener s 89,354 105,435 64,423
Property, plant and equipment additions 0f VIES.........coooiioiiioeeeee e — — 356,964
Jeffrey Energy Center (JEC) 8% leasehold interest............coovvvveevevireereereerennn. — — (108,706)
NON-CASH FINANCING TRANSACTIONS:
Issuance of common stock for reinvested dividends and compensation plans.... 12,803 15,103 18,777
DIEBT OF VIES ..ottt ettt seeee e — — 337,951
Capital lease for JEC 8% leasehold ITEIEST .....oovvvveeeeereeeeeeeeereeereeeeeerr s s, — — (106,423)
Assets acquired through capital 1eases........cooviviiiivicii e 10,683 43,011 910

Investment Earnings - Sale of Non-utility Investment

In 2011, we recorded a $7.2 million gain on the sale of a non-utility investment.
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3. RATE MATTERS AND REGULATION
Regulatory Assets and Regulatory Liabilities
Regulatory assets represent incurred costs that have been deferred because they are probable of future recovery in

customer prices. Regulatory liabilities represent probable future reductions in revenue or refunds to customers through the
price setting process. Regulatory assets and liabilities reflected on our consolidated balance sheets are as follows.

As of December 31,

2012 2011
(In Thousands)
Regulatory Assets:
Deferred employee benefit costs.......oooooiiiiiiciiiis 3 542,174 § 560,915
Amounts due from customers for future income taxes, net.... 169,091 168,804
DEPreciation .....cooiu ittt 73,672 76,298
Debt reacQUISTHON COSTS wouvvrireiierrieiireieeeiaiiaierre e aeeee 67,721 66,856
Treasury vield Red@es......ovvioeieninniieiecccciniiscc e, 28,573 33,753
Asset retirement 0bligations........eceeivvercrrruenenrareeieienennanns 22,633 22,196
Ad ValoTem taX ..o 21,812 6,622
Energy efficiency program COStS.......oucerervrrnianrreesersenneninns 18,835 16,521
Disallowed plant COSES ......covvviiiiiiriininin e 16,106 16,236
WO Creek OUtage...ooiiuiiiirereierere e e 14,143 25,033
STOTIN COSIS 1vvrvvirnniceecaiiieeriiee et te sttt et e varenaraesineeeanvaaens 11,076 25,747
Retail energy cost adjustment 4,262 19,587
Other regulatory aSSELS..vevrrviirier e 12,574 7,522
Total regulatory aSSEtS.....ccvveririerirrierieineeeseeesesee e $ 1,002,672 § 1,046,090
Regulatory Liabilities:

Removal COSIS ..ottt $ 128971 § 82,338
Deferred regulatory gain from sale leaseback...........coooeiiee 92,046 97,541
Nuclear decOmMMISSIONINE ... ccovuriiriirreraerireriinaeceeeraieaeraans 25,937 12,544
La Cygne dismantling COStS .......ccoooviiiniiirneinieniiiicaeccnenees 18,093 15,680
Retail energy cost adjustment ......o.cc.overerenenioriiinnieinacans 16,595 25,225
Kansas 1aX Credits. ... i aeiecereseeesres e asssessssassans 10,781 8,497
Other post-retirement benefits COStS ..oviviiririnmriniririarcnncns 10,722 11,125
Gain on sale 0f 01l ...ccovvvieiieeiieeeee e 6,219 5,822
Fuel supply and electricity contracts 4,387 6,177
Other regulatory Habilities ..o, 9,424 6,438
Total regulatory Labilities.......cccoooviivrniiiir e $ 323,175 § 271,387

Below we summarize the nature and period of recovery for each of the regulatory assets listed in the table
above.

*  Deferred employee benefit costs: Includes $485.5 million for pension and post-retirement benefit
obligations and $36.7 milliou for actual pension expense in excess of the amount of such expense
recognized in setting our prices. During 2013, we will amortize to expense approximately $44.2 million
of the benefit obligations and approximately $9.8 million of the excess pension expense. As authorized
in the April 2012 KCC order discussed below, we are amortizing the excess pension expense as of the
time of our filing with the KCC over a five-year period. We do not earn a return on this asset.
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+  Amounts due from customers for future income taxes, net: In accordance with various orders, we
have reduced our prices to reflect the income tax benefits associated with certain income tax deductions,
thereby passing on these benefits to customers at the time we receive them. We believe it is probable
that the net future increases in income taxes payable will be recovered from customers when these
temporary income tax benefits reverse in future periods. We have recorded a regulatory asset, net of the
regulatory liability, for these amounts on which we do not earn a return. We also have recorded a
regulatory liability for our obligation to customers for income taxes recovered in earlier periods when
corporate income tax rates were higher than current income tax rates. This benefit will be returned to
customers as these temporary differences reverse in future periods. The income tax-related regulatory
assets and liabilities as well as unamortized investment tax credits are also temporary differences for
which deferred income taxes have been provided. These items are measured by the expected cash flows
to be received or settled in future prices. We do not earn a return on this asset.

*  Depreciation: Represents the difference between regulatory depreciation expense and depreciation
expense we record for financial reporting purposes. We earn a return on this asset and amortize the
difference over the life of the related plant.

*  Debt reacquisition costs: Includes costs incurred to reacquire and refinance debt. These costs are
amortized over the term of the new debt. We do not earn a return on this asset,

+  Treasury yield hedges: Represents the effective portion of losses on treasury yield hedge
transactions. This amount will be amortized to interest expense over the term of the related debt. See
Note 4, "Financial and Derivative Instruments, Trading Securities, Energy Marketing and Risk
Management—Derivative Instruments—Cash Flow Hedges," for additional information regarding our
treasury yield hedge transactions. We do not earn a return on this asset.

*  Asset retirement obligations: Represents amounts associated with our AROs as discussed in
Note 14, "Asset Retirement Obligations.” We recover these amounts over the life of the related plant.
We do not earn a return on this asset.

»  Ad valorem tax: Represents actual costs incurred for property taxes in excess of amounts collected in
our prices. We expect to recover these amounts in our prices over a one-year period. We do not earmn a
return on this asset.

= Energy efficiency program costs: We accumulate and defer for future recovery costs related to our
various energy efficiency programs. We will amortize such costs over a one-year period. We do not
earn a return on this asset.

* Disallowed plant costs: In 1985, the Kansas Corporation Commission (KCC) disallowed certain
costs associated with the original construction of Wolf Creek. In 1987, the KCC authorized KGE to
recover these costs in prices over the useful life of Wolf Creek. We do not earn a return on this asset.

*  Wolf Creek outage: We defer the expenses associated with Wolf Creek's scheduled refueling and
maintenance outages and amortize these expenses during the period between planned outages. We do
not carn a return on this asset.

*  Storm costs: We accumulated and deferred for future recovery costs related to restoring our electric
transmission and distribution systems from damages sustained during unusually damaging storms. We
amortize these costs over periods ranging from three to five years and earn a return on a majority of
this asset.

* Retail energy cost adjustment: We are allowed to adjust our retail prices to reflect changes in the
cost of fuel and purchased power needed to serve our customers. This item represents the actual cost
of fuel consumed in producing electricity and the cost of purchased power in excess of the amounts we
have collected from customers. We expect to recover in our prices this shortfall over a one-year
period. We have two retail jurisdictions, each with a separate cost of fuel. For the reporting period,
this resulted in us simultaneously reporting both a regulatory asset and a regulatory liability for this
item. We do not earn a return on this asset.
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«  Other regulatory assets: Includes various regulatory assets that individually are small in relation to
the total regulatory asset balance. Other regulatory assets have various recovery periods. We do not
earn a return on any of these assets.

Below we summarize the nature and period of amortization for each of the regulatory liabilities listed in the
table above.

+ Removal costs: Represents amounts collected, but not yet spent, to dispose of plant assets that do not
represent legal retirement obligations. This liability will be discharged as removal costs are incurred.

*  Deferred regulatory gain from sale leaseback: Represents the gain KGE recorded on the 1987 sale
and leaseback of its 50% interest in La Cygne Generation Station (La Cygne) unit 2, We amortize the
gain over the lease term.

»  Nuclear decommissioning: We have a legal obligation to decommission Wolf Creek at the end of its
useful life, This amount represents the difference between the fair value of the assets held ina
decommissioning trust and the fair value of our ARO. See Note 4, "Financial and Derivative
Instruments, Trading Securities, Energy Marketing and Risk Management,” Note 5, "Financial
Investments” and Note 14, "Asset Retirement Obligations," for information regarding our nuclear
decommissioning trust (NDT) and our ARO.

+ La Cygne dismantling costs: We are contractually obligated to dismantle a portion of La Cygne
unit 2. This item represents amounts collected but not yet spent to dismantle this unit and the
obligation will be discharged as we dismantle the unit.

+  Retail energy cost adjustment: We are allowed to adjust our retail prices to reflect changes in the
cost of fuel and purchased power needed to serve our customers. We bill customers based on our
estimated costs. This item represents the amount we collected from customers that was in excess of
our actual cost of fuel and purchased power. We will refund to customers this excess recovery over a
one-year period. We have two retail jurisdictions, each with a separate cost of fuel. For the reporting
period, this resulted in us simultaneously reporting both a regulatory asset and a regulatory liability for
this item.

+ Kansas tax credits: Represents Kansas tax credits on investments in utility plant. Amounts will be
credited to customers subsequent to their realization over the remaining lives of the utility plant giving
rise to the tax credits.

*  Other post-retirement benefits costs: Represents the amount of other post-retirement benefits
expense recognized in setting our prices in excess of actual other post-retirement benefits expense. We
amortize the amount over a five-year period.

« Gain on sale of oil: We discontinued the use of a certain type of oil in our plants. As a result, we sold
this oil inventory for a gain. This item represents the remaining portion of the gain that will be
refunded to customers over a three-year period.

+  Fuel supply and electricity contracts: We use fair value accounting for some of our fuel supply and
electricity contracts. This represents the non-cash net gain position on fuel supply and electricity
contracts that are recorded at fair value. Under the RECA, fuel supply contract market gains accrue to
the benefit of our customers.

»  Other regulatory liabilities: Includes various regulatory liabilities that individually are relatively

small in relation to the total regulatory liability balance. Other regulatory liabilities will be credited
over various periods.
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KCC Proceedings
General and Abbreviated Rate Reviews

In April 2012, the KCC issued an order expected to increase our annual retail revenues by approximately
$50.0 million. In addition, we revised our depreciation rates to reflect changes in the estimated useful lives of some of our
depreciable assets. The change in estimate will decrease annual depreciation expense by $43.6 million. The new prices were
effective shortly after having received the order. The KCC also approved our request to file an abbreviated rate review within
12 months of this order to update our prices to include capital costs related to environmental projects at La Cygne.

In January 2010, the KCC issued an order allowing us to adjust our prices to include costs associated with investments
in natural gas and wind generation facilities. The new prices were effective in February 2010 and were expected to increase
our annual retail revenues by approximately $17.1 million.

Environmental Costs

In August 2011, the KCC issued an order ruling that Kansas City Power & Light Company's (KCPL) decision to make
environmental upgrades at La Cygne to comply with environmental regulations is prudent and the $1.2 billion project cost
estimate is reasonable, We have a 50% interest in La Cygne and intervened in the proceeding. The KCC denied our request to
collect our approximately $610.0 million share of the capital investment for the environmental upgrades through our
environmental cost recovery rider (ECRR). However, as noted above, the KCC approved our request to file an abbreviated rate
review to update our prices to include capital costs associated with the project.

We also make annual filings with the KCC to adjust our prices to include costs associated with investments in air
quality equipment made during the prior year. In the most recent three years, the KCC issued orders related to such filings
allowing us to increase our annual retail revenues by approximately:

$19.5 million effective in June 2012;
*  $10.4 million effective in June 2011; and
*  $13.8 million effective in June 2010.

Transmission Costs

We make annual filings with the KCC to adjust our prices to include updated transmission costs as reflected in our
transmission formula rate discussed below. In the most recent three years, the KCC issued orders related to such filings
allowing us to increase our annual retail revenues by approximately:

*  $36.7 million effective in April 2012;
*  $17.4 million effective in April 2011; and
*  $6.4 million effective in March 2010.

Energy Efficiency
We make annual filings with the KCC to adjust our prices to include previously deferred amounts associated with
various energy efficiency programs. In the most recent three years, the KCC issued orders related to such filings allowing us to
increase our annual retail revenues by approximately:
«  $1.1 million effective in October 2012;

*  $4.9 million effective in November 2011; and
*  $5.8 million effective in November 2010.
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FERC Proceedings

In October of each year, we post an updated transmission formula rate that includes projected transmission capital
expenditures and operating costs for the following year. This rate provides the basis for our annual request with the KCC to
adjust our retail prices to include updated transmission costs as noted above. In the most recent three years, we posted our
transmission formula rate which was expected to increase our annual transmission revenues by approximately:

$38.2 million effective in January 2012;
*  $15.9 million effective in January 2011; and
$16.8 million effective in January 2010.




Table of Contents

4. FINANCIAL AND DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS, TRADING SECURITIES, ENERGY MARKETING AND
RISK MANAGEMENT

Values of Financial and Derivative Instruments

GAAP establishes a hierarchal framework for disclosing the transparency of the inputs utilized in measuring assets
and liabilities at fair value. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires
judgment and may affect the classification of assets and liabilities within the fair value hierarchy levels. The three levels of the
hierarchy and examples are as follows:

+ Level 1 - Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. The types of assets and
liabilities included in level 1 are highly liquid and actively traded instruments with quoted prices, such as equities
listed on public exchanges and exchange-traded futures contracts.

» Level 2 - Pricing inputs are not quoted prices in active markets, but are either directly or indirectly observable.
The types of assets and liabilities included in level 2 are typically measured at net asset value, comparable to
actively traded securities or contracts, such as treasury securities with pricing interpolated from recent trades of
similar securities, or priced with models using highly observable inputs, such as commodity options priced using
observable forward prices and volatilities.

» Level 3 - Significant inputs to pricing have little or no transparency. The types of assets and liabilities included in
level 3 are those with inputs requiring significant management judgment or estimation, such as the complex and
subjective models and forecasts used to determine the fair value of options, private equity and real estate
securities and long-term electricity supply contracts,

We record cash and cash equivalents, short-term borrowings and variable rate debt on our consolidated balance sheets
at cost, which approximates fair value. We measure the fair value of fixed rate debt, a level 2 measurement, based on quoted
market prices for the same or similar issues or on the current rates offered for instruments of the same remaining maturities and
redemption provisions. The recorded amount of accounts receivable and other current financial instruments approximates fair
value.

All of our level 2 investments are held in investment funds that are measured at fair value using daily net asset values.
In addition, we maintain certain level 3 investments in private equity and real estate securities that are also measured at fair
value using net asset value, but require significant unobservable market information to measure the fair value of the underlying
investments. The underlying investments in private equity are measured at fair value utilizing both market- and income-based
models, public company comparables, investment cost or the value derived from subsequent financings. Adjustments are made
when actual performance differs from expected performance; when market, economic or company-specific conditions change;
and when other news or events have a material impact on the security. The underlying real estate investments are measured at
fair value using a combination of market- and income-based models utilizing market discount rates, projected cash flows and
the estimated value into perpetuity.

Energy marketing contracts can be exchange-traded or traded over-the-counter (OTC). Fair value measurements of
exchange-traded contracts typically utilize quoted prices in active markets. OTC contracts are valued using market transactions
and other market evidence whenever possible, including market-based inputs to models, model calibration to market clearing
transactions or altemative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency. Valuation models require a variety of
inputs, including contractual terms, market prices, yield curves, credit curves, nonperformance risk, measures of volatility and
correlations of such inputs. Certain OTC contracts trade in less liquid markets with limited pricing information and the
determination of fair value for these derivatives is inherently more subjective. In these situations, estimates by management are
a significant input. Our risk management department, which reports to the Chief Financial Officer, has established valuation
processes and procedures to ensure that the valuation methodologies for energy marketing transactions are fair and consistent.
Methodologies are periodically reviewed and tested to ensure they are representative of the current market dynamics. See
"-Recurring Fair Value Measurements” and "-Derivative Instruments” below for additional information.
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We measure fair value based on information available as of the measurement date. The following table provides the
carrying values and measured fair values of our fixed-rate debt.

As of December 31, 2012 As of December 31, 2011
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value
(In Thousands)
Fixed-rate debt.................... 3 2,702,500 § 3,178,752 § 2,373,063 $ 2,623,993
Fixed-rate debt of VIEs........ 247,624 275,341 275,738 306,027
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Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The following table provides the amounts and their corresponding level of hierarchy for our assets and liabilities that
are measured at fair value.

As of December 31, 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(In Thousands)
Assets:
Energy Marketing Comtracts.........ccooeomnnninverennan. $ — 3 381 8429 § 8,810
Nuclear Decommissioning Trust:
Domestic QUILY .......oceeceecrecrr s eeeeea — 56,157 4,899 61,056
Intemational equity ..o — 30,041 — 30,041
Core bonds ..o s — 28,350 — 28,350
High-yield bonds......c.coooovivmivvviriiceicceeeree e 8,782 — 8,782
Emerging market bonds — 6,428 — 6,428
Combination debt/equity fund ... — 8,194 — 8,194
Real estate SECUMES..........covrevveerieiirireeee s — — 7,865 7,865
Cash equivalents ...........cccoooiveenrenr s 38 — — 38
Total Nuclear Decommissioning Trust..... 38 137,952 12,764 150,754
Trading Securities:
DOmeSHE QUILY .-o.cvoecrerreeerereseseeeeeereser s eseneoens — 22,470 — 22,470
Intemational eqUIY .......cooiriviciercereeeeeeene — 5,744 — 5,744
Core bonds — 15,104 — 15,104
Cash equivalents .... 166 — — 166
Total Trading Securities 166 43318 — 43,484
Total Assets Measured at Fair Value..................cccooooen. $ 204 % 181,651 S 21,193 § 203,048
Liabilities:
Energy Marketing Contracts.............. $ — 3 105 § 1,367 S 1,472
As of December 31, 2011
Assets:
Energy Marketing Contracts..........ccooovocoioeieeiennee $ — 3 2401 % 13,330 ¢ 15,731
Nuclear Decommissioning Trust:
DOomeSHE BQUITY «ouveeeeeeieieer e — 53,186 3,931 57,117
Intemational qQUILY .....cooovov i — 22,307 — 22,307
Core bonds — 20,171 — 20,171
High-yield bonds.... — 10,969 — 10,969
Emerging market bonds.... — 5,309 — 5,309
Combination debt/equity fund ..o — 7,251 — 7,251
Real estate seCUMUes........ccoocveeviveviiireeceecenn — — 7,095 7,095
Cash equivalents ..., 51 — — 51
Total Nuclear Decommissioning Trust..... 51 119,193 11,026 130,270
Trading Securities:
DOomestic €qUITY ......covvierieeieiiereeceece e — 21,175 — 21,175
Intemational equity ... — 4,896 — 4,896
Core bonds — 13,961 — 13,961
Cash equivalents 169 — — 169
Total Trading Securities............cccccoeenenn. 169 40,032 — 40,201
Total Assets Measured at Fair Value..........o.cooooooooil. $ 220 § 161,626 § 24356 § 186,202
Liabilities:
Energy Marketing Contracts........ccocovnveiiiiinninnn $ —  § 2475 § 3878 § 6,353
Treasury Yield Hedges........ccoooooviinnen — 34,025 — 34,025
Total Liabilities Measured at Fair Value...............cccocoovvenns $ — % 36,500 % 3,878 § 40,378
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We do not offset the fair value of energv marketing contracts executed with the same counterparty. As of
December 31, 2012, we had no right to reclaim cash collateral and had recorded $1.8 million for our obligation to return cash
collateral. As of December 31, 2011, we had no right to reclaim cash collateral and had recorded $2.9 million for our
obligation to return cash collateral.

The following table provides reconciliations of assets and liabilities measured at fair value using significant level 3

inputs for the vears ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Energy Nuclear Decommissioning Trust
Marketing
Contracts, Domestic  High-vield Real Estate Net
net Equity Bonds Securities Balance
(In Thousands)
Balance as of December 31, 2011 ............... 3 9,452 $ 3,931 § — § 7,095 § 20478
Total realized and unrealized gains (losses)
included in:

Earmings (2) c.ocoorvveviinnccncnninnnnas 2,176 — — — 2,176

Regulatory assets.......cocovvcvivnvncncnnns (696) (b) — — — (696)

Regulatory liabilities ...............occoirenne. 2,114 (b) 90 — 770 2,974
Purchases ... (5,034) 891 — 320 (3,823)
SAES. ..t (620) (13) — (320) (953)
Settlements ... (330) — — — (330)
Balance as of December 31, 2012 ................. $ 7,062 $ 4,899 § — 3 7.865 $ 19,826
Balance as of December 31, 2010................. $ 11,815 $ 2,867 $ 305§ 3,049 § 18,036
Total realized and unrealized gains (losses)

included in:

Earnings (2) «..ccccvvninininniinineecncnnnnnns 603 — — — 603

Regulatory assetS......coooevvervrrieniririnnnens (1,450) (b) — — — (1,450)

Regulatory liabilities ..., 2,993 (b) 479 — 670 4,142
Purchases ..., (6,145) 608 — 3,455 (2,082)
SaleS .. 1,022 (23) (305) (79) 615
Settlements ..o 614 — —_ — 614
Balance as of December 31,2011 ................. S 9,452 $ 3,931 § — § 7,095 § 20,478

(a)  Unrealized gains and losses included in earnings are reported in revenues.
(b) Includes changes in the fair value of certain fuel supply and electricity contracts.
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Portions of the gains and losses contributing to changes in net assets in the above table are unrealized. The following
table swmmarizes the unrealized gains and losses we recorded on our consolidated financial statements during the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, attributed to level 3 assets and liabilities.

Year Ended December 31, 2012

Nuclear Decommissioning Trust

Energy
Marketing Domestic Real Estate Net
Contracts, net Equity Securities Balance
(In Thousands)
Total unrealized gains (losses)
included in:
Earmnings (a) ...cocooerrevennnst $ (748) $ — 3§ — § (748)
Regulatory assets................ (74) (b) — — 74)
Regulatory liabilities .......... 332 (b) 77 451 860
Total.oiiiiirce $ (490) $ 77 $ 451 § 38
Year Ended December 31, 2011
Total unrealized gains (losses)
included in:
Earnings (2) .coocoovrininnenn. S (898) $ — § — 3 (898)
Regulatory assets................ (747) (b) — — (747)
Regulatory liabilities .......... 1,736 (b) 456 591 2,783
Total oo, $ 91 $ 456 § 591 § 1,138

(a) Unrealized gains and losses included in earnings are reported in revenues.
(b) Includes changes in the fair value of certain fuel supply and electricity contracts.

Our level 3 investments require unobservable quantitative inputs to measure fair value. The following table
summarizes the quantitative inputs and assumptions for our level 3 investments not measured at net asset value.

Fair Value as of

December 31, 2012
Assets  Liabilities  Valuation Methodology Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
(In Thousands)

Electricity - Forwards... $ 862 $ 358 Discounted cash flow Basis (MWh) $0 to $15
Gas - Forwards.............. — 74 Discounted cash flow Basis (mmBtu) 50 to $0.25
Options «cccooveveveerrneee. 7,567 935 Discounted cash flow Basis - Electricity (MWHh) $0 to $15
Basis - Gas (mmBiu) S0 to §0.25

Option models Volatility - Electricity 10% to 75%

Volatility - Gas 20% to 35%

Correlation 60% to 90%

Total ..o $ 8429 §$§ 1367
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Our fair value measurement of energy marketing contracts is sensitive to level 3 fair value inputs. Increases or
decreases to one unobservable input may magnify or mitigate the impact of other inputs. Holding all other inputs constant, an
increase (decrease) in a significant unobservable input would typically impact our fair value measurement as follows.

Significant Unobservable Input ~ Position Impact on Fair Value Measurement
BasiS oo Purchase Increase (decrease)
Sell Decrease (increase)
Volatility. oo, Purchase Option Increase (decrease)
Sell Option Decrease (increase)
Correlation ........c.occcvoencriccnnic. Purchase Option Decrease (increase)
Sell Option Increase (decrease)

Some of our investments in the NDT and our trading securities portfolio are measured at net asset value, do not have
readily determinable fair values and are either with investment companies or companies that follow accounting guidance
consistent with investment companies. In certain situations these investments may have redemption restrictions. The following
table provides additional information on these investments.

As of December 31, 2012 As of December 31, 2011 As of December 31,2012

Unfunded Unfunded Redemption  Length of
Fair Value Commitments Fair Value Commitments  Frequency Settlement
(In Thousands)
Nuclear Decommissioning Trust:
Domestic equity ........ccovrvrivirvennnnan. S 489 § 1,024 $ 3931 § 1,914 (@) (@)
Real estate securities .........ooceevennne 7.865 — 7,095 —  Quarterly 80 days
Total Nuclear Decommissioning
TIUS v, S 12,764 S 1,024 S 11,026 S 1914
Trading Securities:
Domestic €qQUILY «..oocoevevireieiiennenne $ 22470 $ — % 21175 § —  Upon Notice 1 day
International equity .......c.cccccerernnns 5,744 — 4,896 —  Upon Notice 1 day
Core bonds ........occcvvviiiiiiinean 15,104 — 13,961 — Upon Notice 1 day
Total Trading Securities............... 43,318 — 40,032 —
Total..ooocciiie $ 56,082 § 1,024 § 51,058 $ 1,914

(a) This investment is in two long-term private equity funds that do not permit early withdrawal. Our investments in these
funds cannot be distributed until the underlying investments have been liquidated which may take vears from the date of
initial liquidation. One fund has begun making distributions and we expect the other to begin in 2013.

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

We have recognized legal obligations associated with the disposal of long-lived assets that result from the acquisition,
construction, development or normal operations of such assets. In 2012, we recorded $3.1 million of additional AROs. In
2011, we recorded $9.9 million of additional AROs to reflect revisions to the estimated cost to decommission Wolf Creek. We
initially record AROs at fair value for the estimated cost 10 satisfy the retirement obligation.

We measure the fair value of AROs by estimating the cost to satisfy the retirement obligation then discounting that
value at a risk- and inflation-adjusted rate. To determine the cost to satisfy the retirement obligation, experts reporting to the
Chief Operating Officer must estimate the cost of basic inputs such as labor, energy, materials, timing and disposal and make
assuniptions on the method of disposal or decommissioning. Our estimates are validated with contractor estimates and when
we satisfy other similar obligations. We estimate the cost to satisfy the 2012 ARO layer as of December 31, 2012, is
approximately $3.1 million.
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To determine the appropriate discount rate, we use observable inputs such as inflation rates, short and long-term vields
for U.S. government securities and our nonperformance risk. Due to the significant unobservable inputs required in our
measurement, we have determined that our fair value measurements of our AROs are level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. For
additional information on our AROs, see Note 14, "Asset Retirement Obligations.”

Derivative Instruments
Cash Flow Hedges

We entered into treasury yield hedge transactions to hedge our interest rate risk associated with a $125.0 million
portion of a forcaseted issuance of fixed rate debt. These transactions were designated and qualified as cash flow hedges and
measured at fair value by estimating the net present value of a series of payments using market-based models with observable
inputs such as the spread between the 30-year U.S Treasury bill vield and the contracted, fixed vield. As a result of regulatory
accounting treatment, we report the effective portion of the gains or losses on these derivative instruments as a regulatory
liability or regulatory asset and amortize such amounts to interest expense over the term of the related debt. As of
December 31, 2011, we had recorded $34.0 million in other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet to reflect the
fair value of the treasury vield hedge transactions and $33.8 million in long-term regulatory assets to reflect the effective
portion. We recorded $0.2 million of hedge ineffectiveness losses in interest expense on our consolidated statements of income
for the year ended December 31, 2011. During the first quarter of 2012, we settled the treasury yield hedge transactions for a
cost of $29.7 million, which will be amortized to interest expense over the 30-year term of the debt issued in March 2012. See
Note 9, "Long-Term Debt” for additional information regarding the debt issuance. As of December 31, 2012, we had recorded
$28.6 million as a regulatory asset.

Commodity Contracts

We engage in both financial and physical trading with the goal of managing our commodity price risk, enhancing
system reliability and increasing profits. We trade electricity and other energy-related products using a variety of financial
instruments, which may include futures contracts, options, swaps and physical commodity contracts.

We classify these commodity derivative instruments as other current and other long-term assets and liabilities on our
consolidated balance sheets. We report energy marketing contracts representing unrealized gain positions as assets; energy
marketing contracts representing unrealized loss positions are reported as liabilities. With the exception of certain fuel supply
and electricity contracts, which we record as regulatory assets or regulatory liabilities, we include the change in the fair value
of energy marketing contracts in revenues on our consolidated statements of income. The following table presents the fair
value of commodity derivative instruments reflected on our consolidated balance sheets.

Commodity Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments as of December 31, 2012

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
Balance Sheet Location Fair Value Balance Sheet Location Fair Value
(In Thousands) (In Thousands)
Current assets: Current liabilities:
Other.......ocoeeeieie e $ 4,776 Other......coovvieriiiieeiiereee $ 1,472
Other assets:
Other.......ooovveeeieee e, 4,034
Total.oo i $ 8,810
Commodity Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments as of December 31, 2011
Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
Balance Sheet Location Fair Value Balance Sheet Location Fair Value
(In Thousands) (In Thousands)
Current assets: Current liabilities:
Other ..o $ 8,180 Other.......ooovviiiiiieiiicieen, $ 6,353
Other assets:
Other. 7,551
Total..oeeeieiiieciieeens N 15,731
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The following table presents how changes in the fair value of commodity derivative instruments increased (decreased)
line items on our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011
Net Gain Net Loss Net Gain Net Loss
Location Recognized  Recognized  Recognized Recognized
(In Thousands)
ReVENUES. ....coiiiiiviiiiiiiiiceeeeivc e $ 6,200 $ — 8 1,569 $ —
Regulatory assets........cccoevviviinnrininins (374) — — 374
Regulatory liabilities ..........cccccevvevirianas — (1,790) — (1,623)

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had under contract the following commodity derivatives.

Net Quantity as of
Unit of Measure December 31,2012  December 31, 2011
Electricity .......... MWh 1,955,497 1,834,253
Natural Gas........ MMBw 1,674,000 1,467,500

Net open positions exist, or are established, due to the origination of new transactions and our assessment of, and
response to, changing market conditions. To the extent we have net open positions, we are exposed to the risk that changing
market prices could have a material impact on our consolidated financial results.

Energy Marketing Activities

Within our energy trading portfolio, we may establish certain positions intended to economically hedge a portion of
physical sale or purchase contracts and we may enter into certain positions attempting to take advantage of market trends and
conditions. We use the term economic hedge to mean a strategy intended to manage risks of volatility in prices or rate
movements on selected assets, liabilities or anticipated transactions by creating a relationship in which gains or losses on
derivative instruments are expected to offset the losses or gains on the assets, liabilities or anticipated transactions exposed to
such market risks.

Price Risk

We use various types of fuel, including coal, natural gas, uranium and diesel to operate our plants and also purchase
power to meet customer demand. Our prices and consolidated financial results are exposed to market risks from commodity
price changes for electricity and other energy-related products as well as from interest rates. Volatility in these markets impacts
our costs of purchased power, costs of fuel for our generating plants and our participation in energy markets. We strive to
manage our customers' and our exposure to these market risks through regulatory, operating and financing activities and, when
we deem appropriate, we economically hedge a portion of these risks through the use of derivative financial instruments for
non-trading purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

We have entered into numerous fixed and variable rate debt obligations. For details, see Note 9, "Long-Term Debt."
We manage our interest rate risk related to these debt obligations by limiting our exposure to variable interest rate debt,
diversifying maturity dates and entering into treasury yield hedge transactions. We may also use other financial derivative
instruments such as interest rate swaps.

Credit Risk

In addition to commodity price risk, we are exposed to credit risks associated with the financial condition of
counterparties, product location (basis) pricing differentials, physical liquidity constraints and other risks. Declines in the
creditworthiness of our counterparties could have a material impact on our overall exposure to credit risk. We maintain credit
policies with regard to our counterparties intended to reduce our overall credit risk exposure to a level we deem acceptable and
include the right to offset derivative assets and liabilities by counterparty.
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We have derivative instruments with commodity exchanges and other counterparties that do not contain objective
credit-risk-related contingent features. However, certain of our derivative instruments contain collateral provisions subject to
certain of our debt ratings. If such debt ratings were to decrease or fall below investment grade, the counterparties to the
derivative instruments, pursuant to the provisions, could require collateralization on derivative instruments. The aggregate fair
value of all derivative instruments with objective credit-risk-related contingent features that were in a liability position as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, was $0.8 million and $3.1 million, respectively, for which we had posted no collateral as of
either date, including independent amounts. If all credit-risk-related contingent features underlying these agreements had been
triggered as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we would have been required to provide to our counterparties $0.1 million and
$0.5 million, respectively, of additional collateral after taking into consideration the offsetting impact of derivative assets and
net accounts receivable.

5. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

We report our investments in equity and debt securities at fair value and use the specific identification method to
determine their realized gains and losses. We classify these investments as either trading securities or available-for-sale
securities as described below.

Trading Securities

We hold equity and debt investments which we classify as trading securities in a trust used to fund certain retirement
benefit obligations of $30.0 million and $29.4 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. For additional
information on our benefit obligations, see Note 11, "Employee Benefit Plans."

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we measured the fair value of trust assets at $43.5 million and $40.2 million,
respectively. We include unrealized gains or losses on these securities in investment earnings on our consolidated statements of
income. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we recorded unrealized gains of $4.1 million, $0.3 million
and $4.3 million, respectively.

Available-for-Sale Securities

We hold investments in equity, debt and real estate securities in a trust for the purpose of funding the decommissioning
of Wolf Creek. We have classified these investments as available-for-sale and have recorded all such investments at their fair
market value as of December 31, 2012 and 2011. As of December 31, 2012, the fair value of available-for-sale debt securities
in the core, high-yield and emerging market bond funds was $43.6 million. As of December 31, 2012, the NDT did not have

- investments in debt securities outside of investment funds.

Using the specific identification method to determine cost, we realized gains on our available-for-sale securities of
$0.6 million in 2012, $1.3 million in 2011 and $13.2 million in 2010. We record net realized and unrealized gains and losses in
regulatory liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. This reporting is consistent with the method we use to account for the
decommissioning costs we recover in our prices. Gains or losses on assets in the trust fund are recorded as increases or
decreases to regulatory liabilities and could result in lower or higher funding requirements for decommissioning costs, which
we believe would be reflected in the prices paid by our customers.
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The following table presents the cost, gross unrealized gains and losses, fair value and allocation of investments in the

NDT fund as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Gross Unrealized

Security Type Cost Gain Loss Fair Value Allocation
(Dollars In Thousands)

As of December 31, 2012
Domestic eqUItY .....oeviivieiarieeens $ 53,598 $ 7,458 % — 61,056 41%
International equity ...............c.... 28,248 1,793 — 30,041 20%
Corebonds ........ocooovveiceiie, 27,309 1,041 — 28,350 19%
High-yield bonds........................ 8,022 760 — 8,782 6%
Emerging market bonds.............. 6,080 348 — 6,428 %
Combination debt/equity fund ... 8,074 120 — 8,194 5%
Real estate securities.................. 9,981 — (2,116) 7.865 5%
Cash equivalents ...........ccoev e 38 — — 38 <1%

Total..ooooieieinces $ 141350 § 11,520 $ (2,116) § 150,754 100%

As of December 31, 2011
Domestic equity ...ccccccerrarnnne., $ 55,357 § 1,760 S — % 57,117 44%
International equity ...........oveeeene 24,501 — (2,194) 22,307 17%
Core bonds ....c.cooevevineiieriinns 19,771 400 — 20,171 16%
High-yield bonds........cccccccnanns 11,046 — a7 10,969 8%
Emerging market bonds ............. 5,301 8 — 5,309 4%
Combination debt/equity fund ... 7,524 — (273) 7,251 6%
Real estate securities.................. 9,662 — (2,567) 7,095 5%
Cash equivalents ........c.ccoccoeun.. 51 — — 51 <1%

Total oo, $ 133,213 § 2,168 % 3,111y § 130,270 100%

The following table presents the fair value and the gross unrealized losses of the available-for-sale securities held in
the NDT fund aggregated by investment category and the length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous

unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Gross Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
(In Thousands)
As of December 31, 2012
Real estate securities ................ $ — 3 — S 7,865 § 2,116) $ 7,865 % (2,116)
As of December 31, 2011
International equity .................. 22307 $ (2,194) $ — 3 — 3 22,307 $ (2,194)
High-vield bonds.......ccooveeninene 10,969 )] — o 10,969 77
Combination debt/equity fund.. 7,251 (273) — — 7,251 (273)
Real estate securities ................ — — 7,095 (2,567) 7,095 (2,567)
Total. i g 40,527 $ (2,544) $ 7,095 % (2,567) % 47,622 § (5,111)

85




Table of Contents

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The following is a summary of our property, plant and equipment balance.

As of December 31,

2012 2011
(In Thousands)
Electric plant in Service .........ccceecveivivrennnn. $ 9,389,192 § 8,703,278
Electric plant acquisition adjustment.......... 802,318 802,318
Accumulated depreciation...........cc.c.cvnn.n. (3,791,545) (3,703,372)
6,399,965 5,802,224
Construction Work in progress.........co.o..... 532,332 534,003
Nuclear fuel, f1et....ccooovioiiieiiiiiieecee, 81,468 75,695
Net property, plant and equipment...... $ 7,013,765 § 6,411,922

The following is a summary of property, plant and equipment of VIEs.

As of December 31,

2012 2011
(In Thousands)
Electric plant of VIES.......ccocvoviioiiiiieeee $ 543,548 § 543,548
Accumulated depreciation of VIES ..........c..cene. (221,573) (210,054)
Net property, plant and equipment of VIEs. $ 321,975 S 333,494

We revised our depreciation rates to reflect changes in the estimated useful lives of some of our assets. We recorded
depreciation expense on property, plant and equipment of $247.8 million in 2012, $262.6 million in 2011 and $249.2 million in
2010. Approximately $9.8 million, $9.8 million and $9.7 million of depreciation expense in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively,

was attributable to property, plant and equipment of VIEs.

7. JOINT OWNERSHIP OF UTILITY PLANTS

Under joint ownership agreements with other utilities, we have undivided ownership interests in four electric
generating stations. Energy generated and operating expenses are divided on the same basis as ownership with each owner
reflecting its respective costs in its statements of income and each owner responsible for its own financing. Information
relative to our ownership interests in these facilities as of December 31, 2012, is shown in the table below.

In-Service Accumulated Construction Net Ownership
Plant Dates Investment  Depreciation  Work in Progress MW Percentage
(Dollars in Thousands)
La Cygne unit 1 (a)...... June 1973  $ 331964 § 156,722 § 185,875 368 50
JECunit1 (a).....ccoeeeee. July 1978 528,478 196,511 80,217 661 92
JEC unit2 (a).....c.cc...... May 1980 498,929 182,444 121 658 92
JEC unit 3 (a).....cc....... May 1983 703,393 282,481 1,000 664 92
Wolf Creek (b)............. Sept. 1985 1,524,831 756,218 99,357 547 47
State Line (€) ..c..oeveeeee. June 2001 114,093 49,099 34 201 40
Total..covvii, $ 3,701,688 3 1,623475 $ 366,604 3,099

(a) Jointly owned with KCPL. Our 8% leasehold interest in JEC that is consolidated as a VIE is reflected in the net
megawatts (MW) and ownership percentage provided above, but not in the other amounts in the table.

(b) Jointly owned with KCPL and Kansas Electric Power Cooperative, Inc.
(c) Jointly owned with Empire District Electric Company.
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We include in operating expenses on our consolidated statements of income our share of operating expenses of the
above plants. Our share of fuel expense for the above plants is generally based on the amount of power we take from the
respective plants. Our share of other transactions associated with the plants is included in the appropriate classification on our
consolidated financial statements.

In addition, we also consolidate a VIE that holds our 50% leasehold interest in La Cygne unit 2, which represents
343 MW of net capacity. The VIE's investment in the 50% interest was $392.1 million and accumulated depreciation was
$180.2 million as of December 31, 2012. We include these amounts in property, plant and equipment of variable interest
entities, net on our consolidated balance sheets. See Note 17, "Variable Interest Entities,” for additional information about
VIEs.

8. SHORT-TERM DEBT

In 2011 Westar Energy entered into a commercial paper program pursuant to which it may issue commercial paper up
to a maximum aggregate amount outstanding at any one time of $1.0 billion. This program is supported by Westar Energy's
revolving credit facilities described below. Maturities of commercial paper issuances may not exceed 3635 days from the date of
issuance and proceeds from such issuances will be used to temporarily fund capital expenditures, to repay borrowings under
Westar Energy's revolving credit facilities, for working capital and/or for other general corporate purposes. As of
December 31, 2012, Westar Energy had issued $339.2 million of commercial paper. Westar Energy had no commercial paper
outstanding as of December 31, 2011.

In September 2011, Westar Energy refinanced its existing $730.0 million revolving credit facility with a new facility in
the same amount. The commitments under the new facility terminate in September 2016. As long as there is no default under
the facility, Westar Energy may extend the facility up to an additional two years and may increase the aggregate amount of
borrowings under the facility to $1.0 billion, both subject to lender participation. All borrowings under the facility are secured
by KGE first mortgage bonds. As of December 31, 2012, no amounts had been borrowed and $13.8 million of letters of credit
had been issued under this revolving credit facility. As of December 31, 2011, $286.3 million had been borrowed and an
additional $12.2 million of letters of credit had been issued under this revolving credit facility.

In February 2011, Westar Energy entered into a revolving credit facility with a syndicate of banks for $270.0 million.

In February 2013, Westar Energy extended this facility by one year. This facility now terminates in February 2016. As long as
there is no default under the facility, Westar Energy may extend the facility one additional year and may increase the aggregate
amount of borrowings under the facility to $400.0 million, both subject to lender participation. All borrowings under the
facility are secured by KGE first mortgage bonds. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, Westar Energy had no borrowed
amounts or letters of credit outstanding under this revolving credit facility.

In addition, total combined borrowings under Westar Energy's commercial paper program and revolving credit
facilities may not exceed $1.0 billion at any given time. The weighted average interest rate on short-term borrowings was
0.46% and 1.49% as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Additional information regarding our short-term debt is as
follows.

As of December 31,
2012 2011
(Dollars in Thousands)

Weighted average short-term debt outstanding during the vear................. $ 298907 § 362,946
Weighted daily average interest rates during the year, excluding fees........ 0.55% 0.82%

Our interest expense on short-term debt was $3.2 million in 2012, $3.9 million in 2011 and $1.9 million in 2010.
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9. LONG-TERM DEBT

Outstanding Debt

The following table summarizes our long-term debt outstanding.

As of December 31,

2012 2011
(In Thousands)
Westar Energy
First mortgage bond series:
6.00% AUE 20T ... e ees e oes e eeeeeee $ 250,000 $ 250,000
5.15% due 2017 125,000 125,000
5.95% due 2035 .l 125,000 125,000
5.10% due 2020 ...oooooovocrro 250,000 250,000
S.875% AUE 2036 ...oiviiiiiiiie et e ea b st et ee et nnaas 150,000 150,000
6.10% QUE 2047 .ottt neen — 150,000
8.625% due 2018 . 300,000 300,000
A125% QUE 2042 ..ottt et st b et r e e e e e senane 550,000 —
1,750,000 1.350,000
Pollution control bond series:
Variable due 2032, 0.32% as of December 31, 2012; 0.22% as of December 31, 2011....... 45,000 45,000
Variable due 2032, 0.26% as of December 31, 2012; 0.24% as of December 31, 2011....... 30,500 30,500
S.00% AU 2033 ..o e e r e e s et e s r e e enne — 57,245
75,500 132,745
KGE
First mortgage bond series:
. 53% AUE 2037 ettt ettt r s 175,000 175,000
6.15% due 2023 ..o 50,000 50,000
6.64% due 2038 100,000 100,000
6.70%0 AUE 20T (..ot et st s nene e s nnene 300,000 300,000
625.000 625,000
Pollution control bond series:
S.10% AU 2023 .o et e s e st r et s e ae e b e - 13,318
Variable due 2027, 0.26% as of December 31, 2012; 0.28% as of December 31, 2011....... 21,940 21,940
S.30% UE 2031 oot e eeeeeee e 108,600 108,600
S.30% AUE 2031 1eiiiii et et b et et eate et re b e seate et et e ereeresrearaas 18,900 18,900
Variable due 2032, 0.26% as of December 31, 2012; 0.28% as of December 31, 2011....... 14,500 14,500
Variable due 2032, 0.26% as of December 31, 2012; 0.28% as of December 31, 2011....... 10,000 10,000
4.85% due 2031 50,000 50,000
5.60% due 2031 50,000 50,000
6.00% due 2031 50,000 50,000
S.00% AUE 2031 1oiviniiii ettt b ettt se s e sesenis 50,000 50,000
373,940 387,258
Total long-term debt..............c...... 2,824,440 2,495,003
Unamortized debt discount (a).. (5,169) (3,894)
Long-term debt due within one year. — -
Long-term debt, net $ 2,819.271  § 2,491,109
Vanable Interest Entities
7.77% due 2012 (b) $ — 3 2,583
6.99% due 2014 (b) 866 2,094
5.92 % due 2019 (b) 17,630 22,748
5.647% due 2021 (b) 229,128 248,313
Total long-term debt of variable interest entities 247,624 275,738
Unamortized debt premium (a) 1,061 1,659
Long-term debt of variable interest entities due within one year .... (25.942) (28,114)
Long-term debt of vanable interest entities, net 3 222743 S 249.283

(a) We amortize debt discounts and premiums to interest expense over the term of the respective issues.
(b) Portions of our payments related to this debt reduce the principal balances each year until maturity.
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The Westar Energy and KGE mortgages each contain provisions restricting the amount of first mortgage bonds that
could be issued by each entity. We must comply with such restrictions prior to the issuance of additional first mortgage bonds
or other secured indebtedness.

The amount of Westar Energy first mortgage bonds authorized by its Mortgage and Deed of Trust, dated July 1, 1939,
as supplemented, is subject to certain limitations as described below. The amount of KGE first mortgage bonds authorized by
the KGE Mortgage and Deed of Trust, dated April 1, 1940, as supplemented and amended, is limited to a maximum of
$3.5 billion, unless amended further. First mortgage bonds are secured by utility assets. Amounts of additional bonds that may
be issued are subject to property, earnings and certain restrictive provisions, except in connection with certain refundings, of
each mortgage. As of December 31, 2012, approximately $830.0 million principal amount of additional first mortgage bonds
could be issued under the most restrictive provisions in Westar Energy's mortgage, except in connection with certain
refundings. As of December 31, 2012, approximately $870.0 million principal amount of additional KGE first mortgage bonds
could be issued under the most restrictive provisions in KGE's mortgage.

As of December 31, 2012, we had $121.9 million of variable rate, tax-exempt bonds. While the interest rates for these
bonds have been extremely low, we continue to monitor the credit markets and evaluate our options with respect to these bonds.

In May 2012, Westar Energy issued $300.0 million principal amount of first mortgage bonds at a discount yielding
4.157%, bearing stated interest at 4.125% and maturing in March 2042. These bonds constitute a further issuance of a series of
bonds initially issued in March 2012 in the principal amount of $250.0 million, at a discount yielding 4.13%, bearing stated
interest at 4.125% and maturing in March 2042. Proceeds from these issuances of $541.4 million were used to repay short-
term debt, which was used to purchase capital equipment, to redeem bonds, and for working capital and general corporate
purposes.

In May 2012, Westar Energy redeemed $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.10% first mortgage bonds.
Additionally, in March 2012 Westar Energy redeemed $57.2 million aggregate principal amount of 5.00% pollution control
bonds and KGE redeemed $13.3 million aggregate principal amount of 5.10% pollution control bonds. The bonds were
redeemed using short-term debt.

Debt Covenants

Some of our debt instruments contain restrictions that require us to maintain leverage ratios as defined in the credit
agreements. We calculate these ratios in accordance with the agreements and they are used to determine compliance with our
various debt covenants. We were in compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2012.

Maturities

The principal amounts of our long-term debt maturities as of December 31, 2012, are as follows.

Long-term
Year Long-term debt debt of VIEs
(In Thousands)

$ — 8 25,942
250,000 27,479
— 27,933
— 28,309
125,000 26,842
Thereafter .....ooveevveiiiiiieeene 2,449,440 111,119
Total maturities.............. $ 2,824,440 $ 247,624

Interest expense on long-term debt was $145.6 million in 2012, $142.6 million in 2011 and $144.1 million in 2010.
Interest expense on long-term debt of VIEs was $15.1 million in 2012, $16.8 million in 2011 and $18.7 million in 2010.
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10. TAXES

Income tax expense is comprised of the following components.

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In Thousands)
Income Tax Expense (Benefit):

Current income taxes:

Federal ..o $ 691) § (8,575) $ (32,107)

STATE ..ottt ettt 579 196 (3,030)
Deferred income taxes:

FEITL e eeeeeee e se e ees e eee s es oo ss e ees s eer e eenees 102,960 93,089 102,568

AL oottt ettt ettt 26,300 21,337 20,305
Investment tax credit amMOrtiZation. ... overevernenncceinnnes (3,012) (2,703) (2,704)

INCOME taX EXPENSE ....vvevvrrveririarirraitariereaensassesanseeannes $ 126,136 $ 103,344 § 85,032

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflected on our consolidated balance sheets as follows.

As of December 31,
2012 2011
(In Thousands)
Other current liabilities (assets).......ooovvnn, $ 8,654 § (394)
Non-current deferred tax liabilities ............. 1,197,837 1,110,463
Deferred tax liabilities ......c..ocooocooiiiriens $ 1206491 § 1,110,069
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The tax effect of the temporary differences and carryforwards that comprise our deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities are summarized in the following table.

As of December 31,
2012 2011

(In Thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Tax credit carryforward (@) ..o g 199,160 § 159,163
Deferred employee benefit costs...........cocoviiiiniiiinccie 191,997 202,687
Net operating loss carryforward (b)......ccccoveoiiiiniecccrere 111,869 84,365
Deferred state ineOme tAXES ........cvov.ierrererieiercrteeneerens e 55,577 42,209
Deferred regulatory gain on sale-leaseback .......occovnnriee e 40,543 42,962
Alternative minimum tax carryforward (). .ccocovevnncninnniins 36,471 36,471
Deferred cOMpPensation ..........cocereere e rceceern s caereeeeeeeee s 28,319 28,286
Accrued Habilities ..o 15,969 16,912
Disallowed COSES........ooveiiiieieie e 12,083 12,717
Capital loss carryforward (d) ......cccooovniiirciincc e 11,509 12,554
Other 20,897 13,031
Total gross deferred tax assets 724,394 651,357
Less: Valuation allowance (€)........coovreeoerrcorievrieierieereeeeeens 13,812 13,712
Deferred tax aSSets.....ccoeeurrriiieieieie et g 710,582 S 637,645
Deferred tax habilities:

Accelerated depreciation ..............cccovniiricceioin e $ 1,255,892 § 1,088,727
Deferred employee benefit costs.. ... 191,997 202,687
ACQUISIHON PIETIUIL ..vvevevitieei ot seetesss s besensnan e 179,920 187,934
Amounts due from customers for future income taxes, net............ 169,091 168,804
Deferred state income taXeS .........vrrreruerececcccrr e 50,134 39,512
Pension expense traCKeT ..o 22,437 14,600
Debt 1eacqUISTION COSES .c.vvvviiiiiiriirieietieee et 22,313 21,683
STOTITL COSES ..ot eeseane s 4,373 10,176
Other 20,916 13,591
Total deferred tax labilities.........cccooooviriiiiriiiec e g 1,917,073 § 1,747,714
Net deferred tax Habilities.........cooveeieieeeecoeceeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 1,206,491 § 1,110,069

(a) Based on filed tax retums and amounts expected to be reported in current year tax returns (December 31, 2012), we had available
federal general business tax credits of $39.3 million and state investment tax credits of $159.8 million. The federal general business
tax credits were primarily generated from affordable housing partnerships in which we sold the majority of our interests in 2001.
These tax credits expire beginning in 2020 and ending in 2032. The state investment tax credits expire beginning in 2013 and
ending in 2028. As we do not expect to realize sufficient state taxable income in 2013, a valuation allowance of $1.3 million has
been established for the state investment tax credits that expire in 2013 (see item (e) below).

(b) As of December 31, 2012, we had a federal net operating loss carryforward of $276.9 million, which is available to offset federal
taxable income. The net operating losses will expire beginning in 2030 and ending in 2032.

(c) Asof December 31, 2012, we had available an alternative minimum tax credit carryforward of $36.5 million, which has an
unlimited carryforward period.

(d) Asof December 31, 2012, we had an unused capital loss carryforward of $29.1 million that is available to oftset future capital gains.
The capital losses will expire beginning in 2013 and ending in 2016.

(e) As we do not expect to realize any significant capital gains in the future, we have established a valuation allowance of $11.5 million.
In addition, we have established a valuation allowance of $2.3 million for certain deferred tax assets related to the write-down of
other investments and state investiment tax credits. The total valuation allowance related to the deferred tax assets was $13.8 million
as of December 31, 2012, and $13.7 million as of Deceinber 31, 2011.
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In accordance with various orders, we have reduced our prices to reflect the income tax benefits associated with
certain accelerated income tax deductions. We believe it is probable that the net future increases in income taxes payable will
be recovered from customers when these temporary income tax benefits reverse. We have recorded a regulatory asset for these
amounts. We also have recorded a regulatory liability for our obligation to reduce the prices charged to customers for deferred
income taxes recovered from customers at corporate income tax rates higher than current income tax rates. The price reduction
will occur as the temporary differences resulting in the excess deferred income tax liabilities reverse. The income tax-related
regulatory assets and liabilities as well as unamortized investment tax credits are also temporary differences for which deferred
income taxes have been provided. The net deferred income tax liability related to these temporary differences is classified
above as amounts due from customers for future income taxes, net.

Our effective income tax rates are computed by dividing total federal and state income taxes by the sum of such taxes
and net income. The difference between the effective income tax rates and the federal statutory income tax rates are as follows.

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Statutory federal INCOME 1AX TALE....vvvvviiiiriccrerieier e 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Effect of: «
Corporate-owned life insurance policies........covvovvrvrvininiinns 4.9) 4.5) 6.1)
SaLe INCOME TAXES cvivviriiiitiieiereerere et nreeeneecsencerenvesreseensens 43 4.1 3.8
Production taX creditS.........ooeeriiiiiiiiieiirinenccesineneneeas 2.4) 2.9) 3.4
Flow through depreciation for plant-related differences........ 14 1.8 2.6
AFUDC @QUILY 1.ttt eeeneeteveiaieanesaeaans (1.0) 0.6) 0.4)
Amortization of federal investment tax credits.........cccernne. 0.7) (0.8) (0.9)
Capital 10Ss VHHZAIOM ... vccoviiiiicacerir i neseeeeenreseneeceaeac (0.3) 0.5) 0.7)
Liability for unrecognized income tax benefits...................... 02 — 0.2)
L0 1111 SOV SOV 0.7) 12) 0.7)
Effective iNCOME 1aX TRE ...oviiie ettt et 30.9% 30.4% 29.0%

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction as well as various state and foreign jurisdictions. The
income tax returns we file will likely be audited by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) or other tax authorities. With few
exceptions, the statute of limitations with respect to U.S. federal, state and local, or non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax
authorities remains open for tax year 2008 and forward.

In the first and second quarters of 2011, the IRS completed its separate examinations of our federal income tax returns
filed for tax years 2008 and 2009, respectively, without significant changes.

In May 2012, the IRS commenced an examination of our 2010 federal income tax return and the amended federal
income tax returns we filed for years 2007, 2008 and 2009. The examination was completed in January 2013 and resulted in a
refund which is subject to formal review and approval by the IRS and the Joint Committee on Taxation of the U.S. Congress.
The examination results will not have a significant impact on our consolidated statements of income or cash flows. We believe
that 1t is reasonably possible that the administrative reviews will be completed in 2013.
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The liability for unrecognized income tax benefits decreased from $2.5 million at December 31, 2011, to $1.2 million
at December 31, 2012. The net decrease in the liability for unrecognized income tax benefits resulted from the reversal of a
liability for unrecognized income tax benefits related to the capitalization of plant expenditures. The reversal was based on
additional IRS guidance regarding deduction and capitalization of expenditures related to tangible property. We do not expect
significant changes in the liability for unrecognized income tax benefits in the next 12 months. A reconciliation of the
beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized income tax benefits is as follows:

2012 2011 2010
(In Thousands)
Liability for unrecognized income tax benefits as of January 1 3 2483 § 1,888 § 8,357
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year... 373 967 608
Additions for tax positions Of PIIOT YEATS .......cceverrerieiiieieiereceecte e — 939 2,323
Reductions for tax positions Of Prior YEars......ocuvvevcriierenernierieaineneseresens (1,637) (563) (1,241)
N 80 1515 ¢ T SO — (748) (8,1539)
Liability for unrecognized income tax benefits as of December 31................. $ 1,219 § 2,483 $ 1,888

The liability for unrecognized incone tax benefits, as disclosed above, is net of reductions to deferred tax assets for
tax loss and credit carryforwards of $0.3 million, $0.2 million and $1.0 million as of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. The amounts of unrecognized income tax benefits that, if recognized, would favorably impact our effective
income tax rate, were $2.0 million, $1.2 million and $1.3 million (net of tax) as of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

Interest related to income tax uncertainties is classified as interest expense and accrued interest liability. During 2011
and 2010, we reversed interest expense previously recorded for income tax uncertainties of $0.2 million and $1.0 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had $0.2 million accrued for interest on our liability related to
unrecognized income tax benefits. We accrued no penalties at either December 31, 2012, or December 31, 2011.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had recorded $1.5 million for probable assessments of taxes other than income
taxes.

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Pension and Post-Retirement Benefit Plans

We maintain a qualified non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all of our employees.
For the majority of our employees, pension benefits are based on vears of service and an employee’s compensation during the
60 highest paid consecutive months out of 120 before retirement. Non-union employees hired after December 31, 2001, and
union employees hired after December 31, 2011, are covered by the same defined benefit pension plan; however, their benefits
are derived from a cash balance account formula. We also maintain a non-qualified Executive Salary Continuation Plan for the
benefit of certain current and retired executive officers. With the exception of one current executive officer, we have
discontinued accruing any future benefits under this non-qualified plan.

The amount we contribute to our pension plan for future periods is not vet known, however, we expect to fund our
pension plan each year at least to a level equal to current year pension expense. We must also meet minimum funding
requirements under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, as amended by the Pension Protection Act. We may
contribute additional amounts from time to time as deemed appropriate.

In addition to providing pension benefits, we provide certain post-retirement health care and life insurance benefits for
substantially all retired employees. We accrue and recover in our prices the costs of post-retirement benefits during an
employee's years of service. We fund the portion of net periodic costs for post-retirement benefits included in our prices.

As a co-owner of Wolf Creek, KGE is indirectly responsible for 47% of the liabilities and expenses associated with the

Wolf Creek pension and post-retirement benefit plans. See Note 12, "Wolf Creek Emplovee Benefit Plans,” for information
about Wolf Creek's benefit plans.
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The following tables summarize the status of our pension and post-retirement benefit plans.

Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits

As of December 31, 2012 2011 2012 2011
(In Thousands)
Change in Benefit Obligation:
Benefit obligation, beginning 0f ¥ear ........coceeeoriciiiciceeecencne $ 876,308 $ 747,460 $ 150,078 § 137,759
SETVICE COSveriitiiiiiiiniet ittt en e ettt s 19,556 16,076 2,057 1,803
Ttrest COSt ..o 39,576 40,045 6,298 6,793
Plan participants’ contributions.... — — 2,987 3,390
Benefits paid (a)... (60,229) (31,107 9,799) (10,114)
Actuarial losses (gains) 53,497 94,161 943 5,246
ANIENAIIEITS 1.ttt ettt — — — 4,451
L0313 2 T OO U STV — 9,673 — 750
Benefit obligation, end of year (€) ... $ 928,708 § 876,308 § 152,564 3 150,078
Change in Plan Assets:
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year. $ 481,077 $ 432,233 § 91,858 § 86,984
Actual return on plan assets 67,328 27,819 10,673 (174)
Employer contributions. ... e 56,700 50,000 10,803 10,793
Plan participants’ cOntributioNS. ... ....ooeeoroeveraieeriecece i — — 2,845 3,244
Benefits paid (a) (57,174) (28,975) (9,386) (9,739)
Other (b) — — — 750
Fair value of plan assets, end of year 3 547931 § 481,077  § 106,793 § 91,858
Funded status, end 0f ¥ear ........cooovieiieie i $ (380,777) § (395,231) § (45,771) § (58,220)
Amounts Recognized in the Balance Sheets Consist of:
Current liability $ (2,870) § (2,741) $ (298) $ (115)
Noncurrent lability (377,907) (392,490) (45,473) (58,105)
Net amotnt recoOZMIZed .....c.oovoiiiiee e $ (380,777) S (395,231) $ (45,771) § (58,220}
Amounts Recognized in Regulatory Assets Consist of:
Net 20taArIAL FOSS...ovoiooeee e e $ 383,365 - $ 397,691 § 12,436 § 18,178
PO SEIVICE COSL..viiiiiriiiitiirieiteiett ettt et et e 3,994 4,606 16,467 18,991
Transition obligation — — 325 4,236
Net amount recognized $ 387,359 % 402,297 § 20228 % 41,405

(a) In 2012 certain former employees received a one-time lump sum payment of their pension benefits totaling $26.1 million.

(b) As of December 31, 2011, Other includes the $9.7 million reclassification of a contractual obligation related to the legal settlement with a former
executive officer and $0.8 million of proceeds received as a resuit of the Early Refiree Reinsurance Program.

(c) Asof December 31, 2012 and 2011, pension benefits include non-qualified benefit obligations of $30.0 million and $29.4 million, respectively, which
are funded by a trust containing assets of $43.5 million and $40.2 million, respectively, classitied as trading securities as discussed in Notes 4 and 5,
“Financial and Derivative Instruments, Trading Securities, Energy marketing and Risk Nanagement" and "Financial Investments," respectively.
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Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits
As of December 31, 2012 2011 2012 2011
(Dollars in Thousands)
Pension Plans With a Projected Benefit Obligation In Excess of Plan
Assets:
Projected benefit obligation $ 928,708  $ 876,308  § — 8 —
Fair value of plan assets 547,931 481,077 — —

Pension Plans With an Accumulated Benefit Obligation In Excess of Plan
Assets:

$ 806,888 $ 750,263 — -
547,931 481,077 — —

Accumulated benefit obligation.........

Fair value of plan assets.....................

Post-retirement Plans With an Accumulated Post-retirement Benefit
Obligation In Excess of Plan Assets:

Accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation ........ccoooooiiiiiiina — — % 152,564 $ 150,078
Fair value of plan assets..........ccooooioiiiiiiieiicie e — — 106,793 91,858

Weighted-Average Actuarial Assumptions used to Determine Net Periodic
Benefit Obligation:

DISCOUNE TALE ..ottt sae e e saesssnas e 4.13% 4.50% 3.99% 4.25%

Compensation 1ate MCTEASE ........co.creivireetecreceneeeeee e ssceeaeseninee 4.00% 4.00% — —

We use a measurement date of December 31 for our pension and post-retirement benefit plans. The discount rate used
to determine the current vear pension obligation and the following vear's pension expense is based on a bond selection-
settlement portfolio approach. This approach develops a discount rate by selecting a portfolio of high quality, non-callable
corporate bonds that generate sufficient cash flow to provide for the projected benefit payments of the plan. After the bond
portfolio is selected, a single interest rate is determined that equates the present value of the plan's projected benefit payments
discounted at this rate with the market value of the bonds selected.




We amortize prior service cost (benefit) on a straight-line basis over the average future service of the active employees
(plan participants) benefiting under the plan at the time of the amendment. We amortize the net actuarial gain or loss on a
straight-line basis over the average future service of active plan participants benefiting under the plan without application of an
amortization corridor. The KCC allows us to us to record a regulatory asset or liability to track the cumulative difference
between current year pension and post-retirement benefits expense and the amount of such expense recognized in setting our
prices. We accumulate such regulatory asset or liability between general rate reviews and amortize the accumulated amount as
part of resetting our base prices. Following is additional information regarding our pension and post-retirement benefit plans.

Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits
Year Ended December 31, 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Thousands)
Components of Net Periodic Cost (Benefit):
SEIVICE COST oot $ 19,556  § 16,076 $ 13926  § 2,057 § 1,803  $ 1,526
Interest cost 39,576 40,045 39,391 6,298 6,793 7,083
Expected retum on plan assets...... (32,283) (31,087) (38,384) (5,491) (5,002) (5,197)
Amortization of unrecognized:
Transition obligation, net..........ccccveenene. — — — 3,912 3911 3,912
Prior service costs 612 1,213 2,729 2,524 2,524 2,154
Actuarial loss/(gain), nef 32,778 23,659 17,183 1,503 702 321
Net periodic cost before regulatory
adjustment ... 60,239 49,906 34,845 10,803 10,731 9,799
Regulatory adjustment (a) (6,523) 22,098) (12,167) 23 1,344 1,868
Net periodic COSt.....ocrrirecrirtctereeee e $ 53,716 % 27808 § 22,678 S 10,826  $ 12,075 8§ 11,667
Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit
Obligations Recognized in Regulatory Assets:
Current year actuarial (gain)oss..........c....... $ 18,451 $ 97,429 S 65,690 3 (4,239) $ 10,421 3 3,298
Amortization of actuarial (loss)/gain.............. (32,778) (23,659) (17,183) (1,503) (702) (321)
Current year prior service cost............. — — 676 — 4,451 —
Amortization of prior service costs................. (612) (1,213) (2,729) (2,524) (2,524) (2,1549)
Amortization of transition obligation.............. — — — (3,912) (3,911) (3,912)
Total recognized in regulatory assets.............. $  (14939) § 72557 % 46,454 §  (12,178) § 7,735 § (3,089)

Total recognized in net periodic cost and

regulatory assets....... s 38,777 3 100,365 $ 69,132 $ (1,352) § 19,810 $ 8,578

Weighted-Average Actuanial Assumptions used to
Determine Net Periodic Cost (Benefit):

DiSCOUNT FAL ...cvvieerienriceiece oo 4.50% 5.35% 5.95% 4.25% 5.00% 5.65%
Expected long-term retumn on plan assets....... 6.50% 6.50% 8.25% 6.00% 6.00% 1.75%
Compensation rate INCrease .......c..co.oveeveerenns 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% —_ — —

(a) The regulatory adjustment represents the difference between current period pension or post-retirement benefit expense and the amount of such expense
recognized in setting our prices.

We estimate that we will amortize the following amounts from regulatory assets into net periodic cost in 2013,

Pension Post-retirement
Benefits Benefits
(In Thousands)
Actuarial 1oss......ccooeeiiiiis $ 33914 $ 1,125
Prior service cost......covveninne 601 2,524
Transition obligation.............. — 325
Total..oooveeeeeeeiecreennes $ 34,515 § 3,974
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We base the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets on historical and projected rates of return for current and
planned asset classes in the plans' investment portfolios. We select assumed projected rates of return for each asset class after
analyzing long-term historical experience and future expectations of the volatility of the various asset classes. Based on target
asset allocations for each asset class, we develop an overall expected rate of return for the portfolios, adjusted for historical and
expected experience of active portfolio management results compared to benchmark returns and for the effect of expenses paid
from plan assets.

For measurement purposes, the assumed annual health care cost growth rates were as follows.

As of December 31,
2012 2011
Health care cost trend rate assumed fOr NEXt YEAT.....ccoieiriiriiiieiriiiirie e s 8.0% 8.0%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate) ....... 5.0% 5.0%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate......c.ocooeoiiioiiieiiiiiecee e 2019 2018

The health care cost trend rate affects the projected benefit obligation. A 1% change in assumed health care cost
growth rates would have effects shown in the following table.

One- One-
Percentage- Percentage-
Point Increase  Point Decrease
(In Thousands)
Effect on total of service and interest cost........... 3 67 $ (64)
Effect on post-retirement benefit obligation........ 1,489 (1,384)

Plan Assets

We manage pension and post-retirement benefit plan assets in a prudent manner with regard to preserving principal
while providing reasonable returns. We have adopted a long-term investment horizon such that the chances and duration of
investment losses are carefully weighed against the long-term potential for appreciation of assets. Part of our strategy includes
managing interest rate sensitivity of plan assets relative to the associated liabilities. The primary objective of the pension plan
is to provide a source of retirement income for its participants and beneficiaries, and the primary financial objective of the plan
is to improve its funded status. The primary objective of the post-retirement benefit plan is growth in assets and preservation of
principal, while minimizing interim volatility, to meet anticipated claims of plan participants. We delegate the management of
our pension and post-retirement benefit plan assets to independent investment advisors who hire and dismiss investment
managers based upon various factors. The investment advisors strive to diversify investments across asset classes, sectors and
manager styles to minimize the risk of large losses, based upon objectives and risk tolerance specified by management, which
include allowable and/or prohibited investment types. We measure and monitor investment risk on an ongoing basis through
quarterly investment portfolio reviews and annual liability measurements.

As noted above, we have established certain prohibited investments for our pension and post-retirement benefit plans.
Such prohibited investments include loans to the company or its officers and directors as well as investments in the company’s
debt or equity securities, except as may occur indirectly through investments in diversified mutual funds. In addition, to reduce
concentration of risk, the pension plan will not tnvest in any fund that holds more than 25% of its total assets to be invested in
the securities of one or more issuers conducting their principal business activities in the same industry. This restriction does not
apply to investments in securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government or its agencies.
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The target allocations for our pension plan assets are about 44% to debt securities, 42% to equity securities and the
remaining 14% to other investments such as real estate securities, hedge funds and private equity investments. Our investments
in equity include investment funds with underlying investments in domestic and foreign large-, mid- and small-cap companies,
derivatives related to such holdings, private equity investments including late-stage venture investments and other investments.
Our investments in debt include core and high-vield bonds. Core bonds are comprised of investment funds with underlying
investments in investment grade debt securities of corporate entities, obligations of U.S. and foreign governments and their
agencics, and other debt securities. High-yield bonds include investment funds with underlying investments in non-investment
grade debt securities of corporate entities, obligations of foreign governments and their agencies, private debt securities and
other debt securities. Real estate securities consist primarily of funds invested in core real estate throughout the U.S. while
alternative funds invest in wide ranging investments including equity and debt securities of domestic and foreign corporations,
debt securities issued by U.S. and foreign governments and their agencies, structured debt, warrants, exchange-traded funds,
derivative instruments, private investment funds and other investments.

The target allocations for our post-retirement benefit plan assets are 65% to equity securities and 35% to debt
securities. Our investments in equity securities include investment funds with underlying investments primarily in domestic
and foreign large-, mid- and small-cap companies. Our investments in debt securities include a core bond fund with underlying
investments in investment grade debt securities of domestic and foreign corporate entities, obligations of U.S. and foreign
governments and their agencies, private placement securities and other investments.

Similar to other assets measured at fair value, GAAP establishes a hierarchal framework for disclosing the
transparency of the inputs utilized in measuring pension and post-retirement benefit plan assets at fair value. From time to
time, the pension and post-retirement benefits trusts may buy and sell investments resulting in changes within the hierarchy.
See Note 4, "Financial and Derivative Instruments, Trading Securities, Energy Marketing and Risk Management,” for a
description of the hierarchal framework.

All level 2 pension investments are held in investment funds that are measured at fair value using daily net asset
values as reported by the trustee, except for $35.6 million as of December 31, 2012, invested directly in long-term U.S.
Treasury securities. We also maintain certain level 3 investments in private equity, real estate securities and alternative funds
that require significant unobservable market information to measure the fair value of the investments. The fair value of private
equity investments is measured by utilizing both market- and income-based models, public company comparables, at cost or at
the value derived from subsequent financings. Adjustments are made when actual performance differs from expected
performance; when market, economic or company-specific conditions change; and when other news or events have a material
impact on the security. To measure the fair value of real estate securities we use a combination of market- and income-based
models utilizing market discount rates, projected cash flows and the estimated value into perpetuity. Alternative funds are
measured at fair value using net asset values as reported by the alternative fund managers. Since the underlying assets in
alternative funds vary widely various methods are required, often utilizing significant management judgment.

98




The following table provides the fair value of our pension plan assets and the corresponding level of hierarchy as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011.

As of December 31, 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(In Thousands)

Assets:
Domestic eqUItY.......cocvrvereerereecarannns, $ — § 129501 $ 18,493 $ 147,994
International equity .........ccccocecvernen. — 67,743 — 67,743
Core bonds.......c.ooooovieiiieviiieeee. — 178,784 — 178,784
High-yield bonds..........cccccoonnnn. — 19,070 — 19,070
Emerging market bonds.................... — 14,276 — 14,276
Combination debt/equity fund.......... — 50,750 — 50,750
Real estate securities .......ccoooeevennnne. — — 20,927 20,927
Alternative funds..........cocoovveeenennn - - 45,535 45,535
Cash equivalents...........ccocecncccnnnn, — 2,852 — 2,852

Total Assets Measured at Fair Value....... $ — $ 462976 $ 84,955 § 547931

As of December 31, 2011

Assets:
Domestic eqUity........covoveeeevrieninnns, $ — § 121364 S 15375 § 136,739
International equity .........coeevvcvennnn. — 53,943 — 53,943
Core bonds.....cccooirivviienircnccnn, — 142,700 — 142,700
High-yield bonds........ccocoevviirinnn e 38,380 e 38,380
Combination debt/equity fund.......... — 47,151 — 47,151
Real estate securities .....cocvvvveveeenannn. e — 18,848 18,848
Alternative funds.......cooceviiviineens — — 40,716 40,716
Cash equivalents.......ccceeeeernrenann — 2,600 — 2,600

Total Assets Measured at Fair Value....... $ — § 406,138 § 74939 § 481,077

The following table provides a reconciliation of pension plan assets measured at fair value using significant level 3
inputs for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Domestic High-yield Real Estate Alternative

Equity Bonds Securities Funds Total
(In Thousands)
Balance as of December 31, 2011................. S 13375 $ — § 18,848 § 40,716 $ 74,939
Actual gain (loss) on plan assets:
Relating to assets still held at the
LEPOTtING date .. o.ovviiiiirceiaiecaieaiaraenenanans 25) — 2,296 4.819 7.090
Relating to assets sold during the period... 53 — Q7N — 26
Purchases, issuances and settlements, net..... 3,090 — (190) — 2,900
Balance as of December 31, 2012................. $ 18,493 § — § 20,927 $ 45,535 % 84,955
Balance as of December 31, 2010................. $ 11,575 § 1,200 $ 16,411 § 25,764 $ 54,950
Actual gain (loss) on plan assets:
Relating to assets still held at the
reporting date ..o 1,910 — 2,652 (48) 4,514
Relating to assets sold during the period... — — (49) — (49)
Purchases, issuances and settlements, net..... 1,890 (1,200) (166) 15,000 15,524
Balance as of December 31, 2011................ $ 15375 § — 3 18,848 $ 40,716 §$ 74,939
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The following table provides the fair value of our post-retirement benefit plan assets and the corresponding level of
hierarchy as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

As of December 31, 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(In Thousands)
Assets:
Domestic eqUItY ......cccervevrevirrinieninns $ — % 55441 § — § 5544
International equity ..o, — 14,037 — 14,037
Corebonds..........cccovvvivcionniincn, — 36,738 — 36,738
Cash equivalents..........cccceovennnnnn, —_— 577 — 577
Total Assets Measured at Fair Value....... $ — $ 106,793 S — $ 106,793
As of December 31, 2011
Assets:
Domestic €qUILY ..co.ovovoviiineiarinnins $ — § 47411 $ — $ 47411
International €qUItY........cccoevcvrcerannns — 11,500 — 11,500
Core bonds.......cccovvvveenivcvienienn — 32,192 — 32,192
Cash equivalents.......ccc.cccceeeninnnnns —_ 755 — 755
Total Assets Measured at Fair Value....... $ — 3 91,858 § — 5 91,858

Cash Flows

The following table shows the expected cash flows for our pension and post-retirement benefit plans for future vears,

Expected Cash Flows Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits
(From) (From)
To/(From) Trust Company Assets  To/(From) Trust Company Assets
(In Millions)

Expected contributions:
2013 e $ 30.0 5 6.0

2013 oo, $ (31.3) § (29) s (7.9) 0.3)
2014 oo (33.3) (2.8) (8.3) (0.3)
pJ1) T (35.3) 2.8) (8.8) (0.3)
2016 covveveeeereeeeeeeereeeeen (38.0) (2.8) ©.1) (0.3)
2017 oo, (41.1) (2.8) 9.5) (0.3)
2018 - 20224 covveeeereeeen. (247.1) (13.0) (49.6) (1.2)

Savings Plans

We maintain a qualified 401(k) savings plan in which most of our employees participate. We match employees’
contributions in cash up to specified maximum limits. Our contributions to the plans are deposited with a trustee and invested
at the direction of plan participants into one or more of the investment alternatives we provide under the plan. Our
contributions totaled $7.1 million in 2012, $7.0 million in 2011 and $7.4 million in 2010.
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Stock-Based Compensation Plans

We have a long-term incentive and share award plan (LTISA Plan), which is a stock-based compensation plan in
which employees and directors are eligible for awards. The LTISA Plan was implemented as a means to attract, retain and
motivate employees and directors. Under the LTISA Plan, we may grant awards in the form of stock options, dividend
equivalents, share appreciation rights, RSUs, performance shares and performance share units to plan participants. In May
2011, Westar Energy sharcholders approved an increase in the number of shares of common stock that may be granted under
the LTISA Plan to 8.25 million shares from 5.0 million shares. As of December 31, 2012, awards of approximately 4.8 million
shares of common stock had been made under the plan.

All stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as
an expense in the consolidated statement of income over the requisite service period. The requisite service periods range from
one to ten years. The table below shows compensation expense and income tax benefits related to stock-based compensation
arrangements that are included in our net income.

Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010
(In Thousands)
COMPENSAION EXPEIISE ... iuveieieetcenteerieenereieniearsiseeseestessesetesseenseansesresseensnsasans $ 7,203 $ 8367 3% 11,321
Income tax benefits related to stock-based compensation arrangements........ 2,849 3,309 4,481

We use RSU awards for our stock-based compensation awards. RSU awards are grants that entitle the holder to
receive shares of common stock as the awards vest. These RSU awards are defined as nonvested shares and do not include
restrictions once the awards have vested. In 2011, outstanding RSUs with only service requirements previously awarded to our
former chief executive officer that were subject to forfeiture were modified to provide for the vesting upon his retirenient in
July 2011 of a prorated number of the RSUs based on the number of days from the grant date of the RSUs to his retirement
date. In addition, outstanding RSUs with performance measures previously awarded to our former chief executive officer were
modified to provide for the vesting on the scheduled vesting date, subject to the satisfaction of the applicable performance
criteria, of a prorated number of the target RSUs based on the number of days from the grant date of the RSUs to his retirement
date. We recorded compensation expense of $2.8 million in 2011 related to these modifications.

RSU awards with only service requirements vest solely upon the passage of time. We measure the fair value of these
RSU awards based on the market price of the underlying common stock as of the grant date. RSU awards with only service
conditions that have a graded vesting schedule are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of income on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award. Nonforfeitable dividend equivalents, or the rights to
receive cash equal to the value of dividends paid on Westar Energy’s common stock, are paid on these RSUs during the vesting
period.

RSU awards with performance measures vest upon expiration of the award term. The number of shares of common
stock awarded upon vesting will vary from 0% to 200% of the RSU award, with performance tied to our total shareholder
return relative to the total shareholder return of our peer group. We measure the fair value of these RSU awards using a Monte
Carlo simulation technique that uses the closing stock price at the valuation date and incorporates assumptions for inputs of the
expected volatility and risk-free interest rates. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility over three vears using daily
stock price observations. The risk-free interest rate is based on treasury constant maturity yields as reported by the Federal
Reserve and the length of the performance period. For the 2012 valuation, inputs for expected volatility ranged from 17.6% to
33.6% and the risk-free interest rate was approximately 0.4%. For the 2011 valuation, inputs for expected volatility and risk-
free interest rates ranged from 24.5% to 28.5% and 0.1% to 1.3%, respectively. For these RSU awards, dividend equivalents
accumulate over the vesting period and are paid in cash based on the number of shares of common stock awarded upon vesting.
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During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, our RSU activity for awards with only service
requirements was as follows:

As of December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Grant Date Grant Date Grant Date
Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value
(Shares In Thousands)

Nonvested balance, beginning of year.... 3685 § 23.83 6004 S 21.50 3688 S 21.98
Granted ..ot 131.0 27.82 284.1 26.30 366.4 22.14
Vested. ..o (127.8) 23.34 (187.3) 23.50 (118.1) 24.81
Forfeited....cooreccccc (20.6) 24.40 (328.7) 24.37 (16.7) 22.32
Nonvested balance, end of year.............. 351.1 25.47 368.5 23.83 600.4 21.50

Total unrecognized compensation cost related to RSU awards with only service requirements was $4.2 million as of
December 31, 2012. We expect to recognize these costs over a remaining weighted-average period of 1.7 vears. The total fair
value of RSUs with only service requirements that vested during the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, was
$3.7 million, $4.8 million and $2.7 million, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, our RSU activity for awards with performance measures
was as follows:

As of December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Grant Date Grant Date Grant Date
Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value
(Shares In Thousands)

Nonvested balance, beginning of year.... 3242 S 28.31 3484 § 24.98 — S —
Granted ... 122.3 28.84 244.4 31.26 366.0 24.96
(88.2) 2546 (119.5) 24.12 4.5) 23.32

(18.2) 29.00 (149.1) 28.72 (13.1) 24.99

Nonvested balance, end of year.............. 340.1 29.20 324.2 28.31 348.4 2498

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, total unrecognized compensation cost related to RSU awards with performance
measures was $3.5 million and $3.3 million, respectively. We expect to recognize these costs over a remaining weighted-
average period of 1.7 years. The total fair value of RSUs with performance measures that vested during the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, was $3.6 million. No performance RSUs vested in 2010.

Stock options granted between 1998 and 2001 are completely vested and have expired. There were no options
exercised and all remaining options were forfeited during the year ended December 31, 2010. We currently have no plans to
issue new stock option awards.

Another component of the LTISA Plan is the Executive Stock for Compensation program under which, in the past,
eligible employees were entitled to receive deferred common stock in lieu of current cash compensation. Although this plan
was discontinued in 2001, dividends will continue to be paid to plan participants on their outstanding plan balance until
distribution. Plan participants were awarded 666 shares of common stock for dividends in 2012, 4,757 shares in 2011 and
6,627 shares in 2010. Participants received common stock distributions of 1,461 shares in 2012, 67,426 shares in 2011 and
1,198 shares in 2010.

Income tax benefits resulting from income tax deductions in excess of the related compensation cost recognized in the
financial statements is classified as cash flows from financing activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows.
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12. WOLF CREEK EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Pension and Post-retirement Benefit Plans

As a co-owner of Wolf Creek, KGE is indirectly responsible for 47% of the liabilities and expenses associated with the
Wolf Creek pension and post-retirement benefit plans. KGE accrues its 47% share of Wolf Creek's cost of pension and post-
retirement benefits during the years an employee provides service. The following tables summarize the status of KGE's 47%
share of the Wolf Creek pension and post-retirement benefit plans.

Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits
As of December 31, 2012 2011 2012 2011
(In Thousands)
Change in Benefit Obligation:
Benefit obligation, beginning 0f ¥ear ........co.ooirrriiiiiiir e $ 161396 $ 131,460 $ 10,129 $ 10,144
SEIVICE COSE.urmuuirimitiiniiciiticiii st ettt b et s s 6,062 4,957 191 165
IHEEIESE COSE.cviiiiiiii e e 7,537 7,370 411 458
Plan participants’ COMTIBULIONS. ......o.iv et e eciseeaire e eerese s sneeseasescsnncaes —_ — 608 614
BeNEfits Paid (A)....ovvvvoveovoeoeooooooooooooeoeeooeoeooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee oo eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee (8,569) (3,033) (988) (979)
Actuarial losses (gains) 9,815 20,642 669 (360)
AMENAMents .o....oovv 650 — — —
L6 =T o (o) TS OO UV USROS — — — 87
Benefit obligation, end of year ... S 176,891 $ 161,396 3 11,020 § 10,129
Change in Plan Assets:
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of Year.........c.c.cocoiennercnnnneneeeneecsann g 80,727 § 76,086 S 4 8 —
Actual return 0n PlA BS58TS ... 11,764 (2,578) — —
Employer COMIIDULOMmS. . ..ottt ees s seas e e 13,887 10,009 389 369
Plan participants' contibUHONS .....c.oiiiiiieiciie s — — 608 614
BENEEIS PAIG o111 oevoresessssseeees s (8,327) (2,790) (988) 979)
Fair value of plan assets, end of Year.......c.c.co.oooovovereicnsneee e $ 98,051 $ 80,727 § 13 3 4
Funded status, end of Year ... s g (78,840) $ (80,669) $ (11,007) § (10,125)
Amounts Recognized in the Balance Sheets Consist of:
CUrrent Hability ..ottt $ (243) $ (243) 3 625) § (609)
Nonecurrent HBabilty ..o es e e (78,597) (80,426) (10,382) (9,516)
Net amoutit FECOZMIZEA .....cooiimrmiict ettt seaneees $ (78,840) § (80,669) $ (11,007) $ (10,125)
Amounts Recognized in Regulatory Assets Consist of:
Net CTUATIAL LOSS. ...ttt g 64,535 $ 65273 § 3,643 $ 3,208
PrIOL SEIVICE COSE..o ittt et 675 31 — —
Transition OBHGAION ... coi i — — 1 58
Net amount TECOZMIZEA ..ot er e $ 65,210 $ 65304 $ 3,644 S 3,266

(a) In 2012 certain former employees received a one-time lump sum payment of their pension benefits. Our share of the payment totaled $4.9 million.
(b) Includes proceeds received as a result of the Early Retiree Reinsurance Program.
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Pension Benefits

Post-retirement Benefits

As of December 31, 2012 2011 2012 2011
(Dollars in Thousands)
Pension Plans With a Projected Benefit Obligation In Excess of Plan Assets:
Projected benefit 0blISAtion . .....cooiiiiiiiii e $ 176,891 161396 $ — 8 —
Fair value of plan assets...........cocoooiiiiiiii s 98,051 80,727 — —
Pension Plans With an Accumulated Benefit Obligation In Excess of Plan Assets:
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 141,722 128,633 $ — $ —
Fair value of plan assets......... 98,051 80,727 — —
Post-retirement Plans With an Accumulated Post-retirement Benefit Obligation In
Excess of Plan Assets:
Accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation ............cocooeiieriieeeeeecc $ — — 3 11,020 § 10,129
Fair value of plan assets ... e — — 13 4
Weighted- Average Actuarial Assumptions used to Determine Net Periodic Benefit
Obligation:
THSCOMNE FAIE ..ottt st beann 4.16% 4.55% 3.78% 4.10%
Compensation rate MCIBASE ... . .iiiuiuiririre i ceeeeeerirsesasaesaesaseseecesaseassesesseseseseseaens 4.00% 4.00% — —

Wolf Creek uses a measurement date of December 31 for its pension and post-retirement benefit plans. The discount

rate used to determine the current year pension obligation and the following year’s pension expense is based on a bond

selection-settlement portfolio approach. This approach develops a discount rate by selecting a portfolio of high quality, non-
callable corporate bonds that generate sufficient cash flow to provide for the projected benefit pavments of the plan. After the
bond portfolio is selected, a single interest rate is determined that equates the present value of the plan's projected benefit

payments discounted at this rate with the market value of the bonds selected.
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The prior service cost (benefit) is amortized on a straight-line basis over the average future service of the active
employees (plan participants) benefiting under the plan at the time of the amendment. The net actuarial gain or loss is
amortized on a straight-line basis over the average future service of active plan participants benefiting under the plan without
application of an amortization corridor. Following is additional information regarding KGE's 47% share of the Wolf Creek
pension and other post-retirement benefit plans.

Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits

Year Ended December 31, 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Thousands)
Components of Net Periodic Cost (Benefit):
SEIVICE COSt.viviiiiiiiiieei e et ec e 3 6,062 $ 4,957 S 4,144 3 191 $ 165 $ 179
Interest cost......oooiiii 7,537 7,370 6,941 411 458 519
Expected return on plan assets.........c.....c.c..... (6,577) (5,904) (5,453) — — —
Amortization of unrecognized:
Transition obligation, net...........cccoooee — 52 57 57 58 58
Prior 5ervice oSS ...ovvnrrrrririrene s 6 16 29 — — —
Actuarial 10ss, Det.....ccocoeveiivirercee e 5,366 3,586 2,636 234 227 276
Net periodic cost before regulatory
AGTUSITIENT oo 12,394 10,077 8,354 893 908 1,032
Regutatory adjustment (a) (1,776) (2,546) (1,498) — — —
Net periodic cost S 10,618 § 7,531 § 6,856 § 893 § 908  § 1,032
Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit
Obligations Recognized in Regulatory Assets:
Current year actuarial (gain)/1oss.................. $ 4,629 § 29,124 § 7,514  § 669 § (360) § 363
Amortization of actuarial 10ss.............ccceeeenn. (5,366) (3,586) (2,636) (234) 27 (276)
Current year prior service cost 650 — — — — —
Amortization of prior service cost .. 6) (16) 29) — — —
Amortization of transition obligation — (52) 57 57 (58) (58)
Total recognized in regulatory assets.............. $ 93) § 25470 $ 4,792 S 378 8 645) $ 29
Total recognized in net periodic cost and
regulatory assets..........ocooveiereniceciennns 3 10,525 $ 33,001 3 11,648 $ 1,271 $ 263 3 1,061
Weighted-Average Actuarial Assumptions used to
Determine Net Periodic Cost:
Discount rate 4.55% 5.45% 6.05% 4.10% 4.90% 5.50%
Expected long-term return on plan assets....... 7.50% 7.50% 8.00% —_ — —
Compensation rate MCTeaSe ............cocveeereenens 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% — — —

The regulatory adjustment represents the difference between current period pension or post-retirement benefit expense
and the amount of such expense recognized in setting our prices.

(@)

We estimate that we will amortize the following amounts from regulatory assets into net periodic cost in 2013.

Pension Post-retirement
Benefits Benefits
(In Thousands)
Actuarial 10ss ..o $ 5421 § 264
Prior service cost .....covvvrvceeee 58 —
Transition obligation.............. — 1
Total..oooiiiee e S 5479 $ 265

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on historical and projected rates of return for current and
planned asset classes in the plans’ investment portfolios. Assumed projected rates of return for each asset class were selected
after analyzing long-term historical experience and future expectations of the volatility of the various asset classes. Based on
target asset allocations for each asset class, the overall expected rate of return for the portfolios was developed, adjusted for
historical and expected experience of active portfolio management results compared to benchmark returns and for the effect of

expenses paid from plan assets.
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For measurement purposes, the assumed annual health care cost growth rates were as follows.

As of December 31,
2012 2011
Health care cost trend rate assumed fOr NEXT VEAT......ovviiererermniiicrereeeiiereesennens 8.0% 8.0%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate) ....... 5.0% 5.0%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend 1at€.........occoeeeiiiiiiiiii e 2019 2018

The health care cost trend rate affects the projected benefit obligation. A 1% change in assumed health care cost
growth rates would have effects shown in the following table.

One- One-
Percentage- Percentage-
Point Increase  Point Decrease
(In Thousands)
Effect on total of service and interest cost........... $ 10) % 10
Effect on post-retirement benefit obligation........ (129) 128

Plan Assets

In 2012 Wolf Creek changed its investment advisor resulting in the sale of its then existing levels 1,2 and 3
investments and the purchase of other level 2 and 3 investments. Its pension and post-retirement plan investment strategy is to
manage assets in a prudent manner with regard to preserving principal while providing reasonable returns. It has adopted a
long-term investment horizon such that the chances and duration of investment losses are carefully weighed against the long-
term potential for appreciation of assets. Part of its strategy includes managing interest rate sensitivity of plan assets relative to
the associated liabilities. The primary objective of the pension plan is to provide a source of retirement income for its
participants and beneficiaries, and the primary financial objective of the plan is to improve its funded status. The primary
objective of the post-retirement benefit plan is growth in assets and preservation of principal, while minimizing interim
volatility, to meet anticipated claims of plan participants. Wolf Creek delegates the management of its pension and post-
retirement benefit plan assets to independent investment advisors who hire and dismiss investment managers based upon
various factors. The investment advisors strive to diversify investments across asset classes, sectors and manager styles to
minimize the risk of large losses, based upon objectives and risk tolerance specified by Wolf Creek, which include allowable
and/or prohibited investment types. It measures and monitors investment risk on an ongoing basis through quarterly investment
portfolio reviews and annual liability measurements.

The target allocations for Wolf Creek's pension plan assets are 31% to international equity securities, 25% to domestic
equity securities, 25% to debt securities, 10% to real estate securities, 5% to commodity investments and 4% to other
investments. The investments in both international and domestic equity include investments in large-, mid- and small-cap
companies, private equity funds and investment funds with underlying investments similar to those previously mentioned. The
investments in debt include core and high-yield bonds. Core bonds include funds invested in investment grade debt securities
of corporate entities, obligations of U.S. and foreign governments and their agencies, and private debt securities. High-yield
bonds include a fund with underlying investments in non-investment grade debt securities of corporate entities, private
placements and bank debt. Real estate securities include funds invested in commercial and residential real estate properties
while commodity investments include funds invested in commodity-related instruments.

All of Wolf Creek's pension plan assets are recorded at fair value using daily net asset values as reported by the trustee.
However, level 3 investments in real estate funds and alternative funds are invested in underlying investments that are illiquid
and require significant judgment when measuring them at fair value using market- and income-based models. Significant
unobservable inputs for underlying real estate investments include estimated market discount rates, projected cash flows and
estimated value into perpetuity. Alternative funds invest in a wide range of investments typically with low correlations to
traditional investments.

Similar to other assets measured at fair value, GAAP establishes a hierarchal framework for disclosing the
transparency of the inputs utilized in measuring pension and post-retirement benefit plan assets at fair value. From time to
time, the Wolf Creek pension trust may buy and sell investments resulting in changes within the hierarchy. See Note 4,
"Financial and Derivative Instruments, Trading Securities, Energy Marketing and Risk Management,” for a description of the
hierarchal framework.
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The following table provides the fair value of KGE's 47% share of Wolf Creek's pension plan assets and the

corresponding level of hierarchy as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

As of December 31, 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(In Thousands)

Assets:
Domestic eqUITY...cccovvirmmimnenernenans $ — $ 24305 § — $ 24303
International equUIty ...cooovveviriininnns — 30,484 — 30,484
Corebonds.........ococovvvieiiiiiecnen — 24,763 — 24,763
Real estate securities .........cooeeeeuennn. — 4,972 4,541 9,513
Conunodities .......cccorvvuniiieiceeencnnn, — 4,789 — 4,789
Alternative investments..........co....... — — 3,900 3,900
Cash equivalents........c.ccoccevieeis - 297 — 297

Total Assets Measured at Fair Value....... 5 — & 89,610 § 8441 § 98,051

As of December 31, 2011

Assets:
Domestic €qQUItY...cocevrvrieriirieeeeennan, $ 30,753 % — — & 30,753
International equity .....ccccoerrvrernennen 9,953 8,070 — 18,023
Core bonds.......oc.oovivniieciieee — 17,877 — 17,877
High-yield bonds.........ccccovinininninn 4,102 — — 4,102
Real estate securities ......coovvvreevennnen. — - 3,630 3,630
Commodities ......ccccoeviiiieeiiieeeees — 4,377 — 4,377
Cash equivalents.........coccocovevnnnnenn, — 1,965 — 1,965

Total Assets Measured at Fair Value....... $ 44808 $ 32,289 § 3,630 $ 80,727

The following table provides a reconciliation of KGE's 47%

share of Wolf Creek's pension plan assets measured at fair

value using significant level 3 inputs for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Real Estate Alternative
Securities Investments Total
(In Thousands)

Balance as of December 31,2011 ..o, $ 3,630 § — 3 3,630
Actual gain (loss) on plan assets:

Relating to assets still held at the reporting date ......... “11) 23 (388)

Relating to assets sold during the period..................... 755 — 755
Purchases, issuances and settlements, net.............ccccoee... 367 3,877 4,444
Balance as of December 31, 2012 ...coooviiviicciinninne $ 4,541 $ 3,900 $ 8,441
Balance as of December 31, 2010 .....ccoociiiiiiiiiinee e, $ 3,160 $ —  $ 3,160
Actual gain (loss) on plan assets:

Relating to assets still held at the reporting date ......... 300 — 500

Relating to assets sold during the period..........ccc..... 2 — 2
Purchases, issuances and settlements, net..............cccccccecee 32) - 32)
Balance as of December 31, 2011 ..o, $ 3,630 § — 3 3,630
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Cash Flows

The following table shows our expected cash flows for KGE's 47% share of Wolf Creek's pension and post-retirement
benefit plans for future years.

Expected Cash Flows Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits
(From) (From)
To/(From) Trust  Company Assets  To/(From) Trust  Company Assets
(In Millions)

Expected contributions:
2013 $ 9.4 3 0.6

1) K D $ B7) S (02) $ 0.6) $ —
2014 oo (4.3) (0.2) (0.7) —
2015 oo, (5.0) (0.2) (0.7) —
2016 eoovveeoeeeeeereeeree (5.8) (0.2) (0.8) —
2017 oo, 6.7) (0.2) (0.8) —
2018 - 2022..vvvooee. (46.9) (0.9) (4.5) —

Savings Plan

Wolf Creek maintains a qualified 401(k) savings plan in which most of its employees participate. They match
employees’ contributions in cash up to specified maximum limits. Wolf Creek's contributions to the plan are deposited with a
trustee and invested at the direction of plan participants into one or more of the investment alternatives provided under the plan.
KGE's portion of the expense associated with Wolf Creek's matching contributions was $1.3 million in 2012, $1.3 million in
2011 and $1.1 million in 2010.

13. COMDMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Purchase Orders and Contracts

As part of our ongoing operations and capital expenditure program, we have purchase orders and contracts, excluding
fuel and transmission, which are discussed below under "—Fuel, Purchased Power and Transmission Commitments,” that had
an unexpended balance of approximately $588.3 million as of December 31, 2012, of which $278.1 million had been

committed. These commitments relate to purchase obligations issued and outstanding at year-end.

The vearly detail of the aggregate amount of required payments as of December 31, 2012, was as follows.

Committed
Amount

(In Thousands)

2013 e $ 159,546
2014 oo 72,573
D 0) I 29,271
Thereafter.......coovviiiiieniienecce 16,727
Total amount committed.............. S 278,117

Federal Clean Air Act
We must comply with the federal Clean Air Act, state laws and implementing federal and state regulations that impose,

among other things, limitations on emissions generated from our operations, including sulfur dioxide (SO,), particulate matter
(PM), nitrogen oxides (NOx), carbon monoxide (CO), mercury and acid gases.
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Emissions from our generating facilities, including PM, SO; and NOx, have been determined by regulation to reduce
visibility by causing or contributing to regional haze. Under federal laws, such as the Clean Air Visibility Rule, and pursuant to
an agreement with the Kansas Department of Health and Environment (KDHE) and the Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA), we are required to install, operate and maintain controls to reduce emissions found to cause or contribute to regional
haze.

Under the federal Clean Air Act, the EPA sets National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS) for certain emissions
considered harmful to public health and the environment, including PM, NOx, CO and SO,, which result from fossil fuel
combustion. Areas meeting the NAAQS are designated attainment areas while those that do not meet the NAAQS are
considered nonattainment areas. Each state must develop a plan to bring nonattainment areas into compliance with the
NAAQS. NAAQS must be reviewed by the EPA at five-year intervals. KDHE proposed to designate portions of the Kansas
City area nonattainment for the eight-hour ozone standard, which has the potential to impact our operations. The EPA has not
acted on KDHE's proposed designation of the Kansas City area and it is uncertain when, or if, such a designation might occur.
The Wichita area also exceeded the eight-hour ozone standard and could be designated nonattainment in the future potentially
impacting our operations.

In December 2012, the EPA strengthened an existing NAAQS for PM. The EPA anticipates making initial attainment/
nonattainment designations under this rule by the end of 2014. We are currently evaluating the rule, however, we cannot at this
time predict the impact it may have on our operations or consolidated financial results, but it could be material.

In 2010, the EPA strengthened the NAAQS for both NOx and SO,. We continue to communicate with our regulators
regarding these standards and are currently evaluating what impact this could have on our operations. If we are required to
install additional equipment to control emissions at our facilities, the revised NAAQS could have a material impact on our
operations and consolidated financial results.

Environmental Projects

We will continue to make significant capital and operating expenditures at our power plants to reduce regulated
emissions. The amount of these expenditures could change materially depending on the timing and nature of required
investments, the specific outcomes resulting from existing regulations, new regulations, legislation and the manner in which we
operate the plants. In addition to the capital investment, in the event we install new equipment, such equipment may cause us
to incur significant increases in annual operating and maintenance expense and may reduce the net production, reliability and
availability of the plants. The degree to which we will need to reduce emissions and the timing of when such emissions
controls may be required is uncertain. Additionally, our ability to access capital markets and the availability of materials,
equipment and contractors may affect the timing and ultimate amount of such capital investments.

In comparison to a general rate review, the ECRR reduces the amount of time it takes to begin collecting in retail
prices the costs associated with capital expenditures for qualifying environmental improvements. We are not allowed to use the
ECRR to collect cost associated with our approximately $610.0 million share of the projected capital investment associated
with the $1.2 billion of environmental upgrades at La Cygne. We therefore must file for a general review of our rates or an
abbreviated rate review with the KCC in order to collect these costs. As previously discussed, the KCC approved our request to
file an abbreviated rate review within 12 months of the April 2012 order to update our prices to include capital costs related to
environmental projects at La Cygne. To change our prices to collect increased operating and maintenance costs, we must file a
general rate review with the KCC.

Air Emissions

The operation of power plants results in emissions of mercury, acid gases and other air toxics. In 2011, the EPA
published Mercury and Air Toxics Standards for power plants, which replaces the prior federal Clean Air Mercury Rule and
requires significant reductions in mercury, acid gases and other emissions. Companies impacted by the new standards will have
up to three years, or four years with approval from a state environmental regulatory agency, and in certain limited
circumstances up to five years, to comply. We have obtained approval from our state environmental regulatory agency and
expect to be compliant with the new standards within four years. We continue to evaluate the new standards and believe that
our related investment will be less than $16.0 nuillion.
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In mid 2011, the EPA finalized the Cross-State Air Pollution Rule (CSAPR) requiring 28 states, including Kansas,
Missourt and Oklahoma, to further reduce power plant emissions of SO, and NOx. Under CSAPR, reductions in annual SO,
and NOxX emissions were required to begin January 2012, with further reductions required beginning January 2014. The EPA
also published a final supplemental rule to CSAPR later in 2011 requiring five states, including Missouri and Oklahoma, to
make summertime reductions in NOx emissions beginning in May 2012. Although Kansas was included in the original
proposed rule, the final supplemental rule instead called for the EPA to revisit Kansas' status once Kansas submitted an ozone
state implementation plan. In August 2012, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit vacated CSAPR and
remanded the rule to the EPA to promulgate a replacement. In October 2012, the EPA filed a petition with the court requesting
a rehearing before the full court. In January 2013, the court issued orders declining to rehear the case. We cannot at this time
predict how the EPA may proceed with rulemaking; however, based on our current and planned environmental controls, if the
regulations were to be reinstated or replaced, either in part or in whole, we do not believe the impact on our operations and
consolidated financial results would be material. :

Greenhouse Gases

Under regulations known as the Tailoring Rule, the EPA is regulating greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from certain
stationary sources. The regulations are being implemented pursuant to two federal Clean Air Act programs which impose
recordkeeping and monitoring requirements and also mandate the implementation of best available control technology (BACT)
for prajects that cause a significant increase in GHG emissions (defined to be more than 75,000 tons or more per year or
100,000 tons or more per year, depending on various factors). The EPA has issued guidance on what BACT entails for the
control of GHGs and individual states are now required to determine what controls are required for facilities within their
jurisdiction on a case-by-case basis. We cannot at this time determine the impact of these regulations on our operations and
consolidated financial results, but we believe the cost of compliance with the regulations could be material.

Renewable Energy Standard

Kansas law mandates that we maintain a minimum amount of renewable energy sources. Through 2015 net renewable
generation capacity must be 10% of the average peak demand for the three prior years, subject to limited exceptions. This
requirement increases to 15% for years 2016 through 2019 and 20% for 2020 and thereafter. In 2012, we began purchasing
under 20-year supply contracts the renewable energy produced from approximately 370 MW of additional wind generation,
which, together with existing facilities, supply contracts and renewable energy credits, will allow us to satisfy the net renewable
generation requirement through 2015 and contribute toward meeting the increased requirements beginning in 2016. If we are
unable to meet future requirements, our operations and consolidated financial results could be adversely impacted.

EPA Consent Decree

As part of a 2010 settlement of a lawsuit filed by the Department of Justice on behalf of the EPA, we are installing
selective catalytic reduction (SCR) equipment on one of three JEC coal units by the end of 2014, which we estimate will cost
approximately $240.0 million. The settlement also required that we determine whether we needed to install additional SCR
equipment on another JEC unit or if we can meet agreed upon plant-wide NOx emissions reduction limits using other controls.
We have informed the EPA that we believe we can meet the terms of the settlement by installing less expensive NOx reduction
equipment rather than additional SCR equipment. We plan to complete these projects in 2014 and recover the costs to install
these systems through our ECRR, but such recovery remains subject to the approval of our regulators.

FERC Investigation

The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) opened a non-public investigation of our use of transmission
service between July 2006 and February 2008. In May 2009, FERC staff alleged that we improperly used secondary network
transmission service to facilitate off-system wholesale power sales in violation of applicable FERC orders and Southwest
Power Pool (SPP) tariffs and that we received $14.3 million of unjust profits through such activities. Based on our response to
these allegations, FERC staff substantially revised downward its preliminary conclusions to allege that we received $0.9
million of unjust profits and failed to pay $0.8 million to the SPP for transmission service. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011,
we had recorded a liability of $1.6 million and $0.35 million, respectively, related to the potential settlement of this
investigation and the risks of litigating this matter to a final outcome. We settled with FERC in January 2013 resulting in
payments totaling $1.6 million.

110




Nuclear Decommissioning

Nuclear decommissioning is a nuclear industry term for the permanent shutdown of a nuclear power plant and the
removal of radioactive components in accordance with Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) requirements. The NRC will
terminate a plant's license and release the property for unrestricted use when a company has reduced the residual radioactivity
of a nuclear plant to a level mandated by the NRC. The NRC requires companies with nuclear plants to prepare formal
financial plans to fund nuclear decommissioning. These plans are designed so that sufficient funds required for nuclear
decommissioning will be accumulated prior to the expiration of the license of the related nuclear power plant. Wolf Creek files
a nuclear decommissioning site study with the KCC every three vears.

The KCC reviews nuclear decommissioning plans in two phases. Phase one is the approval of the revised nuclear
decommissioning study including the estimated costs to decommission the plant. Phase two involves the review and approval
of a funding schedule prepared by the owner of the plant detailing how it plans to fund the future-year dollar amount of its pro
rata share of the decommissioning costs.

In 2011 we revised the nuclear decommissioning study. Based on the study, our share of decommissioning costs,
including decontamination, dismantling and site restoration, is estimated to be $296.2 million. This amount compares to the
prior site study estimate of $279.0 million. The site study cost estimate represents the estimate to decommission Wolf Creek as
of the site study vear. The actual nuclear decommissioning costs may vary from the estimates because of changes in
regulations and technologies as well as changes in costs for labor, materials and equipment.

We are allowed to recover nuclear decommissioning costs in our prices over a period equal to the operating license of
Wolf Creek, which is through 2045. The NRC requires that funds sufficient to meet nuclear decommissioning obligations be
held in a trust. We believe that the KCC approved funding level will also be sufficient to meet the NRC requirement. Our
consolidated financial results would be materially affected if we were not allowed to recover in our prices the full amount of
the funding requirement.

We recovered in our prices and deposited in an external trust fund for nuclear decommissioning approximately
$3.2 million in 2012, $3.2 million in 2011 and $3.1 million in 2010. We record our investment in the NDT fund at fair value,
which approximated $150.8 million and $130.3 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Storage of Spent Nuclear Fuel

Under the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982, the Department of Energy (DOE) is responsible for the permanent
disposal of spent nuclear fuel. Wolf Creek pays into a federal Nuclear Waste Fund administered by the DOE a quarterly fee for
the future disposal of spent nuclear fuel. Our share of the fee, calculated as one tenth of a cent for each kilowatt-hour of net
nuclear generation delivered to customers, was $3.6 million in 2012, $3.1 million in 2011 and $4.0 million in 2010. We include
these costs in fuel and purchased power expense on our consolidated statements of income.

In 2010, the DOE filed a motion with the NRC to withdraw its then pending application to construct a national
repository for the disposal of spent nuclear fuel and high-level radioactive waste at Yucca Mountain, Nevada. An NRC board
denied the DOE's motion to withdraw its application and the DOE appealed that decision to the full NRC. In 2011, the NRC
issued an evenly split decision on the appeal and also ordered the licensing board to close out its work on the DOE's application
by the end of 2011 due to a lack of funding. These agency actions prompted the States of Washington and South Carolina, and
a county in South Carolina, to file a lawsuit in a federal Court of Appeals asking the court to compel the NRC to resume its
license review and to issue a decision on the license application. In August 2012, the court ordered the parties to report to it, no
later than December 14, 2012 (later extended to January 4, 2013), whether Congress had provided funding for the NRC to
proceed on the license application. By that date, Congress had not yet provided funding, and the parties filed their respective
status reports and arguments on whether or not the court should order the NRC to resume its license review. The court has not
vet acted on the pending request. Wolf Creek has an on-site storage facility designed to hold all spent fuel generated at the
plant through 2025 and believes it will be able to expand on-site storage as needed past 2025. We cannot predict when, or if, an
alternative disposal site will be available to receive Wolf Creek’s spent nuclear fuel and will continue to monitor this activity.

Wolf Creek disposes of most of its low-level radioactive waste at an existing third-party repository in Utah, which we
expect will remain available to Wolf Creek. Wolf Creek also contracts with a waste processor to process, take title and dispose
in another state most of the remainder of Wolf Creek’s low-level radioactive waste. Should on-site waste storage be needed in
the future, Wolf Creek has storage capacity on site adequate for about four years of plant operations and believes it will be able
to expand that storage capacity if needed.
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Nuclear Insurance

We maintain nuclear insurance for Wolf Creek in four areas: liability, worker radiation, property and accidental
outage. These policies contain certain industry standard exclusions, including, but not limited to, ordinary wear and tear and
war. The nuclear liability program subscribed to by members of the nuclear power generating industry no longer include
industry aggregate limits for non-certified acts, as defined by the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act, of terrorism-related losses. An
industry aggregate limit of $3.2 billion plus any reinsurance recoverable by Nuclear Electric Insurance Limited (NEIL), our
insurance provider, exists for property claims, including accidental outage power costs, for acts of terrorism affecting Wolf
Creek or any other nuclear energy facility property policy within 12 months from the date of the first act. These limits are the
maximum amount to be paid to members who sustain losses or damages from these types of terrorist acts. In addition, we may
be required to participate in industry-wide retrospective assessment programs as discussed below.

Nuclear Liability Insurance

Pursuant to the Price-Anderson Act, which has been reauthorized through December 31, 2025, by the Energy Policy
Act 0of 2005, we are required to insure against public liability claims resulting from nuclear incidents to the full limit of public
liability, which is currently approximately $12.6 billion. This limit of liability consists of the maximum available commercial
insurance of $375.0 million and the remaining $12.2 billion is provided through mandatory participation in an industry-wide
retrospective assessment program. Under this retrospective assessment program, the owners of Wolf Creek are jointly and
severally subject to an assessment of up to $117.5 million (our share is $55.2 million), payable at no more than $17.5 million
{our share is $8.2 million) per incident per year per reactor. Both the total and vearly assessment is subject to an inflation
adjustment based on the Consumer Price Index and applicable premium taxes. This assessment also applies in excess of our
worker radiation claims insurance. The next inflation adjustment is scheduled for 2013. In addition, Congress could impose
additional revenue-raising measures to pay claims.

Nuclear Property Insurance

The owners of Wolf Creek carry decontamination liability, premature nuclear decommissioning liability and property
damage insurance for Wolf Creek totaling approximately $2.8 billion (our share is $1.3 billion). This insurance is provided by
NEIL. In the event of an accident, insurance proceeds must first be used for reactor stabilization and site decontamination in
accordance with a plan mandated by the NRC. Our share of any remaining proceeds can be used to pay for property damage,
decontamination expenses or, if certain requirements are met, including nuclear decommissioning the plant, toward a shortfall
in the NDT fund.

Accidental Nuclear Qutage Insurance

The owners also carry additional insurance with NEIL to cover costs of replacement power and other extra expenses
incurred during a prolonged outage resulting from accidental property damage at Wolf Creek. If significant losses were
incurred at any of the nuclear plants insured under the NEIL policies, the owners of Wolf Creek may be subject to retrospective
assessments under the current policies of approximately $30.2 million (our share is $14.2 million).

Although we maintain various insurance policies to provide coverage for potential losses and liabilities resulting from
an accident or an extended outage, our insurance coverage may not be adequate to cover the costs that could result from a
catastrophic accident or extended outage at Wolf Creek. Any substantial losses not covered by insurance, to the extent not
recoverable in our prices, would have a material effect on our consolidated financial results.

Fuel, Purchased Power and Transmission Commitments

To supply a portion of the fuel requirements for our power plants, the owners of Wolf Creek have entered into various
contracts to obtain nuclear fuel and we have entered into various contracts to obtain coal and natural gas. Some of these
contracts contain provisions for price escalation and minimum purchase commitments. As of December 31, 2012, our share of
Wolf Creek’s nuclear fuel commitments was approximately $42.2 million for uranium concentrates expiring in 2017,
$6.3 million for conversion expiring in 2017, $106.3 million for enrichment expiring in 2025 and $36.0 million for fabrication
expiring in 2023.

As of December 31, 2012, our coal and coal transportation contract commitments under the remaining terms of the

contracts were approximately $648.2 million. The contracts are for plants that we operate and expire at various times through
2021.
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As of December 31, 2012, our natural gas transportation contract commitments under the remaining terms of the
contracts were approximately $129.0 million. The natural gas transportation contracts provide firm service to several of our
natural gas burning facilities and expire at various times through 2030.

We have purchase power agreements with the owners of four separate wind generation facilities with installed design
capacities of 515 MW. The agreements expire in 2028 through 2032. Each of the agreements provide for our receipt and
purchase of energy produced at a fixed price per unit of output. We estimate that our annual cost of energy purchased from
these wind generation facilities will be approximately $68.2 million beginning in 2013.

We have acquired rights to transmit a total of 306 MW of power. Agreements providing transmission capacity for
approximately 200 MW expire in 2016 while the remaining 106 MW expire in 2022, As of December 31, 2012, we are
committed to spend approximately $34.3 million over the remaining terms of these agreements.

14. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS
Legal Liability

We have recognized legal obligations associated with the disposal of long-lived assets that result from the acquisition,
construction, development or normal operation of such assets. The recording of AROs for regulated operations has no income
statement impact due to the deferral of the adjustments through the establishment of a regulatory asset.

We initially recorded AROs at fair value for the estimated cost to decommission Wolf Creek (KGE's 47% share), retire
our wind generation facilities, dispose of asbestos insulating material at our power plants, remediate ash disposal ponds and

dispose of polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB)-contaminated oil.

The following table summarizes our legal AROs included on our consolidated balance sheets in long-term liabilities.

As of December 31,
2012 2011
(In Thousands)
Beginning ARO............... . $ 142,508 § 125,999
Liabilities settled (1,389) (1,027)
ACCTEHON EXPEIISE ..ovveieeeiiiene s steeee e 8,454 7.623
Increase in nuclear decommissioning ARO liability...... — 9,913
Revisions in estimated cash flows.............ccooevvvvevivinne 3,075 —

Ending ARO $ 152,648 § 142,508

As discussed in Note 13, "Commitments and Contingencies—Nuclear Decommissioning,” Wolf Creek filed a nuclear
decommissioning study with the KCC in 2011. As a result of the study, we recorded a $9.9 million increase in our ARO to
reflect revisions to the estimated costs to decommission Wolf Creek.

Conditional ARO refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method
of settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may not be within the control of the entity. We determined that our
conditional AROs include the retirement of our wind generation facilities, disposal of asbestos insulating material at our power
plants, the remediation of ash disposal ponds and the disposal of PCB-contaminated oil.

We have an obligation to retire our wind generation facilities and remove the foundations. The ARO related to our
wind generation facilities was determined based upon the date each wind generation facility was placed into service.

The amount of the retirement obligation related to asbestos disposal was recorded as of 1990, the date when the EPA
published the "National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants: Asbestos NESHAP Revision; Final Rule.”

We operate, as permitted by the state of Kansas, ash landfills at several of our power plants. The retirement obligation
for the ash landfills was determined based upon the date each landfill was originally placed in service.
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PCB-contaminated oil is contained within company electrical equipment, primarily transformers. The PCB retirement
obligation was determined based upon the PCB regulations that originally became effective in 1978.

Non-Legal Liability - Cost of Removal

We collect in our prices the costs to dispose of plant assets that do not represent legal retirement obligations. As of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had $129.0 million and $82.3 million, respectively, in amounts collected, but not yet spent,
for removal costs classified as a regulatory liability.

15. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In 2011, we reached agreements with two former executive officers settling all contractual obligations related to their
previous employment. The agreements required us to make payments totaling approximately $57.0 million, pay approximately
$8.4 million for their legal fees and expenses, and release deferred stock for compensation shares. We also reversed the
remaining approximately $22.0 million of previously accrued liabilities in 2011, which reduced selling, general and
administrative expense reported on our consolidated statement of income.

We and our subsidiaries are involved in various other legal, environmental and regulatory proceedings. We believe
that adequate provisions have been made and accordingly believe that the ultimate disposition of such matters will not have a
material effect on our consolidated financial results. See Note 3, "Rate Matters and Regulation,” and Note 13, "Commitments
and Contingencies," for additional information.

16. COMMON AND PREFERRED STOCK
Common Stock
General

In May 2011, Westar Energy shareholders approved an amendment to its Restated Articles of Incorporation to increase
the number of shares of common stock authorized to be issued from 150.0 million to 275.0 million. As of December 31, 2012
and 2011, Westar Energy had issued 126.5 million shares and 125.7 million shares, respectively.

Westar Energy has a direct stock purchase plan (DSPP). Shares of common stock sold pursuant to the DSPP may be
either original issue shares or shares purchased in the open market. During 2012, 2011 and 2010, Westar Energy issued
0.8 million shares, 0.8 million shares and 0.7 million shares, respectively, through the DSPP and other stock-based plans
operated under the LTISA Plan. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, a total of 1.5 million shares and 2.0 million shares,
respectively, were available under the DSPP registration statement.

Issuances

In April 2010, Westar Energy entered into a three-year Sales Agency Financing Agreement and forward sale
agreement with a bank. The maximum amount that Westar Energy may offer and sell under the agreements is the lesser of an
aggregate of $500.0 million or approximately 22.0 million shares, subject to adjustment for share splits, share combinations and
share dividends. Under the terms of the Sales Agency Financing Agreement, Westar Energy may offer and sell shares of its
common stock from time to time through the broker dealer subsidiary, as agent. The broker dealer receives a commission equal
to 1% of the sales price of all shares sold under the agreement. In addition, under the terms of the Sales Agency Financing
Agreement and forward sale agreement, Westar Energy may from time to time enter into one or more forward sale transactions
with the bank, as forward purchaser, and the bank will borrow shares of Westar Energy's common stock from third parties and
sell them through its broker dealer. Westar Energy must settle the forward sale transactions within 18 months of the date each
transaction is entered. In 2011 and 2010, Westar Energy entered into and settled forward sale transactions with respect to an
aggregate of approximately 5.4 million shares of common stock for proceeds of approximately $118.3 million. During 2012,
Westar Energy entered into additional forward sale transactions with respect to an aggregate of approximately 1.8 million
shares of comunon stock. Assuming physical share settlement of these forward sale transactions as of December 31, 2012,
Westar Energy would have received aggregate proceeds of approximately $48.1 million based on a forward price of $27.45 per
share.
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In November 2010, Westar Energy entered into a separate forward sale agreement with a bank. Under the terms of the
agreement, the bank, as forward seller, borrowed 7.5 million shares of Westar Energy's common stock from third parties and
sold them to a group of underwriters for $25.54 per share. Under an over-allotment option included in the agreement, the
underwriters purchased approximately 1.0 million additional shares for $25.54 per share, increasing the total number of shares
under the forward sale agreement to approximately 8.5 million shares. The underwriters received a commission equal to 3.3%
of the sales price of all shares sold under the agreement. In November 2011, Westar Energy delivered approximately
8.5 million shares of common stock for proceeds of approximately $197.3 million as complete settlement of this forward sale
agreement.

Westar Energy used the proceeds from the issuance of common stock to repay short-term borrowings, with such
borrowed amounts principally related to investments in capital equipment, as well as for working capital and general corporate
purposes.

Preferred Stock Redemption

In May 2012, Westar Energy provided an irrevocable notice of redemption to holders of all of Westar Energy's
preferred shares. Accordingly, we reduced preferred equity to zero, recognized the obligation to redeem the preferred shares as
a liability and recognized the redemiption premium as a preferred stock dividend. Payment was due to holders of the preferred
shares effective July 1, 2012. The table below shows the redemption amounts for all series of preferred stock.

Total

Principal Call Cost
Rate Shares Outstanding Price Premium  to Redeem

(Dollars in Thousands)

4.50% 121,613 § 12,161 108.0% % 973 § 13,134
4.25% 54,970 5,497  101.5% 82 5,579
5.00% 37,780 3,778 102.0% 76 3,854
214,363 $ 21,436 S  1LI131 $ 22,567

17. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

In determining the primary beneficiary of a VIE, we assess the entity’s purpose and design, including the nature of the
entity's activities and the risks that the entity was designed to create and pass through to its variable interest holders. A
reporting enterprise is deemed to be the primary beneficiary of a VIE if it has (a) the power to direct the activities of the VIE
that most significantly impact the VIE's economic performance and (b) the obligation to absorb losses or right to receive
benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. Accounting guidance effective January 1, 2010, requires
the primary beneficiary of a VIE to consolidate the VIE. The trusts holding our 8% interest in JEC, our 50% interest in La
Cygne unit 2 and railcars we use to transport coal to some of our power plants are VIEs of which we are the primary
beneficiary.

We assess all entities with which we become involved to determine whether such entities are VIEs and, if so, whether
or not we are the primary beneficiary of the entities, We also continuously assess whether we are the primary beneficiary of the
VIEs with which we are involved. Prospective changes in facts and circumstances may cause us to reconsider our
determination as it relates to the identification of the primary beneficiary.

8% Interest in Jeffrey Energy Center

Under an agreement that expires in January 2019, we lease an 8% interest in JEC from a trust. The trust was financed
with an equity contribution from an owner participant and debt issued by the trust. The trust was created specifically to
purchase the 8% interest in JEC and lease it to a third party, and does not hold any other assets. We meet the requirements to be
considered the primary beneficiary of the trust. In determining the primary beneficiary of the trust, we concluded that the
activities of the trust that most significantly impact its economic performance and that we have the power to direct include (1)
the operation and maintenance of the 8% interest in JEC, (2) our ability to exercise a purchase option at the end of the
agreement at the lesser of fair value or a fixed amount and (3) our option to require refinancing of the trust's debt. We have the
potential to receive benefits from the trust that could potentially be significant if the fair value of the 8% interest in JEC at the
end of the agreement is greater than the fixed amount. The possibility of lower interest rates upon refinancing the debt also
creates the potential for us to receive significant benefits.
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50% Interest in La Cygne Unit 2

Under an agreement that expires in September 2029, KGE entered into a sale-leaseback transaction with a trust under
which the trust purchased KGE's 50% interest in La Cygne unit 2 and subsequently leased it back to KGE. The trust was
financed with an equity contribution from an owner participant and debt issued by the trust. The trust was created specifically
to purchase the 50% interest in La Cygne unit 2 and lease it back to KGE, and does not hold any other assets. We meet the
requirements to be considered the primary beneficiary of the trust. In determining the primary beneficiary of the trust, we
concluded that the activities of the trust that most significantly impact its economic performance and that we have the power to
direct include (1) the operation and maintenance of the 50% interest in La Cygne unit 2, (2) our ability to exercise a purchase
option at the end of the agreement at the lesser of fair value or a fixed amount and (3) our option to require refinancing of the
trust's debt. We have the potential to receive benefits from the trust that could potentially be significant if the fair value of the
50% interest in La Cygne unit 2 at the end of the agreement is greater than the fixed amount. The possibility of lower interest
rates upon refinancing the debt also creates the potential for us to receive significant benefits.

Railcars

Under two separate agreements that expire in May 2013 and November 2014, we lease railcars from trusts to transport
coal to some of our power plants. The trusts were financed with equity contributions from owner participants and debt issued
by the trusts. The trusts were created specifically to purchase the railcars and lease them to us, and do not hold any other
assets. We meet the requirements to be considered the primary beneficiary of the trusts. In determining the primary
beneficiary of the trusts, we concluded that the activities of the trusts that most significantly impact their economic
performance and that we have the power to direct include the operation, maintenance and repair of the railcars and our ability
to exercise a purchase option at the end of the agreements at the lesser of fair value or a fixed amount. We have the potential to
receive benefits from the trusts that could potentially be significant if the fair value of the railcars at the end of the agreements
is greater than the fixed amounts. Our agreements with these trusts also include renewal options during which time we would
pay a fixed amount of rent. We have the potential to receive benefits from the trusts during the renewal periods if the fixed
amount of rent is less than the amount we would be required to pay under a new agreement.

Financial Statement Impact

We have recorded the following assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets related to the VIEs described

above.
As of December 31,
2012 2011
(In Thousands)
Assets:
Property, plant and equipment of variable interest entities, net........ $ 321975 $ 333,494
Regulatory assets (@)......ooo oot 5,810 4,915
Liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt of variable interest entities..... by 25942 § 28,114
Accrued IMETEST (D) ..ot 3,948 4,448
Long-term debt of variable interest entities, net.............c...coceoevene. 222,743 249,283

(a) Included in long-term regulatory assets on our consolidated balance sheets.
(b) Included in accrued interest on our consolidated balance sheets.

All of the liabilities noted in the table above relate to the purchase of the property, plant and equipment. The assets of
the VIEs can be used only to settle obligations of the VIEs and the VIEs' debt holders have no recourse to our general credit.
We have not provided financial or other support to the VIEs and are not required to provide such support. We did not record
any gain or loss upon initial consolidation of the VIEs.
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18. LEASES
Operating Leases

We lease office buildings, computer equipment, vehicles, railcars and other property and equipment. These leases
have various terms and expiration dates ranging from one to 20 years.

In determining lease expense, we recognize the effects of scheduled rent increases on a straight-line basis over the
minimum lease term. Rental expense and estimated future commitments under operating leases are as follows.

Total
Operating
Year Ended December 31, Leases

(In Thousands)

Rental expense:

2010 $ 15,464
2011 L 17,577
2012 17,080

2003 s $ 14,453

2014 e 12,550

2015 i 10,142

8,390

6,694

Thereafter ..o 18,049
Total future commitments................ S_——'—70,2_78

Capital Leases

We identify capital leases based on defined criteria. For both vehicles and computer equipment, new leases are signed
each month based on the terms of master lease agreements. The lease term for vehicles is from two to eight years depending on
the type of vehicle. Computer equipment has a lease term of three to five years.

In 2012, we signed an agreement to lease electrical facilities that connect a wind generating facility to the transmission
system. The agreement extends through August 2032, at which time it may be extended or we may exercise an option to
purchase the line. The terms of the agreement meet the criteria of a capital lease; therefore, we recorded an $8.3 million capital
lease.

In 2011, FERC issued an order approving a power supply agreement. The agreement extends through May 2039 and
the terms meet the criteria to be classified as a capital lease. Accordingly, we recorded a $40.0 million capital lease in 2011.

Assets recorded under capital leases, including the 2012 and 2011 leases described above presented as generation
plant, are listed below.

As of December 31,
2012 2011
(In Thousands)

VEhICIES ivi i $ 12,594 § 14,241
Complter eqUIPIIENT......ccevererenrenereenne. 1,423 1,720
Generation plant.........cccocoevovrcrviiencenneniens 48,346 40,048
Accumulated amortization ..........cceeeveeees (6,928) (6,485)

Total capital leases........cc.occeevevvvinnnn 5 55,435 § 49,524

117




Table of Contents

Capital leases are treated as operating leases for rate making purposes. Minimum annual rental payments, excluding
administrative costs such as property taxes, insurance and maintenance, under capital leases are listed below.

Total Capital
Year Ended December 31, Leases

(In Thousands)

3 6,538

6,363

5,840

5,087

4,708

76,800

105,336
Amounts representing imputed IMErest.....oicviveviinervenrecenieo. (48,461)

Present value of net minimum lease payments under capital leases ..... 56,875
Less: CUITent POTtOI......cooivviiriieimnimnisisise s, 3,066
Total long-term obligation under capital leases.........covvvviveninnnennenn. S 53,809

19. QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITED)

Qur business is seasonal in nature and, in our opinion, comparisons between the quarters of a year do not give a true
indication of overall trends and changes in operations.

2012 First Second Third Fourth
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Revenues (2) ..o e $ 475,677 $ 566,262 $ 695,758 $ 523,772
NEtINCOME () cvovvevrverrrrerrareieeeniereerereeeeseeeeeeeereneenes 29,237 64,462 141,067 47,695
Net income attributable to common stock () ......... 27,282 61,361 139,281 45,607
Per Share Data (a):
Basic:
Earnings available.........ccoiiinn S 021 $ 048 S 1.10 § 0.36
Diluted:
Earnings available..........c.ccciiiiinninnn. $ 021 $ 048 § 1.09 § 0.36
Cash dividend declared per common share.............. $ 033 § 033 $ 033 § 0.33

Market price per common share:
High o $ 29.13
LOW e $ 27.12

L%}

30.17 °§ 33.04 § 30.29
26.80 § 2896 $ 27.33

L%}

(a) Items are computed independently for each of the periods presented and the sum of the quarterly amounts may not
equal the total for the year.
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2011 First

Second

Third

Fourth

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Revenues (a) ..o $ 481,720
NetinCOME (@) evvreriiiriiieiiiiiieect e 32,957
Net income attributable to common stock (a) ......... 31,342

Per Share Data (a):

Basic:
Earnings available ..o $ 0.27
Diluted:
Earnings available..........ccocoooiiiiiiiiin $ 0.27
Cash dividend declared per common share............. $ 0.32

Market price per common share:
High oo, $ 26.60
LOW . $ 25.05

S 524,892
45,525

43,887

$ 0.38
$ 0.38
$ 0.32
27.98

$ 25.58

678,152
136,392
134,708

1.14

0.32

27.29
22.63

$

486,228
21,306
19,335

0.16

0.16

0.32

29.05
25.02

(a) Ttems are computed independently for each of the periods presented and the sum of the quarterly amounts may not

equal the total for the year.
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Westar Energy, Inc. Attachment B(6)
Ringfencing Compliance Filing

May 31, 2013

B. Each jurisdictional public utility shall provide annually by May 31* the following
information using diagrams, schedules or narrative discussion as may be appropriate:

6. To the extent financial separations are maintained for either legal or financial
accounting purposes and at a level in which financial statements are reasonably
capable of being produced by the utility's accounting system, each jurisdictional
public utility shall file a summary of financial ratios as of the end of the last
completed fiscal year, as described by way of example in the attachment to these
rules and consistent with the method used to report such information to the principal
bond rating agency or Standard & Poors for (1) consolidated utility operations; (2)
consolidated non-regulated operations; and (3) consolidated corporate financials.

Westar Compliance Filing Comments:

The responsive summary of financial ratios for Westar Energy, Inc. (consolidated), Westar
Energy, Inc. (standalone) and Kansas Gas three financial ratios are attached. Pursuant to the
exemption stated on Page 4, of the Report regarding entities comprising less than 10% of the
consolidated assets or 10% of the consolidated revenues of the parent jurisdictional public utility,
financial ratios regarding consolidated revenues of parent jurisdictional public utility, financial
ratios regarding consolidated non-regulated operations are not attached.




Westar Energy, Inc. Consolidated

Summary of Consolidated Entity Financial Ratios for
Fiscal Year Ending 12-31-2012

Total Debt

Ratio Description Westar Ratio
Total Debt to Total Capitalization 54.8 %
Funds from Operations Interest Coverage 49X
Funds from Operations as a Percent of 214 %




Westar Energy, Inc. Standalone

Summary of Westar Stand-Alone Financial Ratios for
Fiscal Year Ending 12-31-2012 *

Ratio Description Westar Ratio
Total Debt to Total Capitalization 43.3 %
Funds from Operations Interest Coverage 35X

Funds from Operations as a Percent of 229%
Total Debt

Kansas Gas and Electric Company Standalone

Summary of KGE Stand-Alone Financial Ratios for
Fiscal Year Ending 12-31-2012 *

Ratio Description Westar Ratio
Total Debt to Total Capitalization 44.5 %
Funds from Operations Interest Coverage 50X
Funds from Operations as a Percent of 20.5 %
Total Debt

* The Westar and KGE stand-alone ratios are being calculated and provided specifically
for purposes of meeting the Commission’s ringfencing information submittal requirements.
These stand-alone ratios are not calculated in the normal course of business and they are
not provided to any rating agency.
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Westar Energy.

PETER L. SUMNERS

Director, Law
and Assistant Corporate Secretary M ay 29.2013
v Heceived o
¢ on
Ms. Patti Petersen-Klein
Executive Director MAY 2 9 2013
Kansas Corporation Commission .
1500 SW Arrowhead Road State Corpo,aﬂgn Commission
Topeka, Kansas 66604 of Kansas

Re:  In the Matter of Westar Energy, Inc. Compliance Filing Pursuant to Commission Order
Dated December 3, 2010 in Docket No. 06-GIMX-181-GIV.

Dear Ms. Petersen-Klein:

Enclosed for filing please find the original and eight (8) copies of the Compliance Filing
of Westar Energy, Inc. in the above referenced matter.

The following exhibit contains information that Westar Energy, Inc. treats as
confidential, is being designated as Confidential in the matter and is being filed in a separate
envelope:

. Attachment B(1), (2): Organizational Chart

Please file stamp one copy for my files. Thank you for your assistance.

Sincerely,

A

Peter L. Sumners

Enclosures

cc: Jetff McClanahan
Adam Gatewood

818 South Kansas Avenue / P.O. Box 889 / Topeka, Kansas 66601
Telephone: (785) 575-1954 / Fax: (785) 5758136
pete.sumners@WestarEnergy.com



